

Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks

#### SCENIHR

Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks

#### SCHER

Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety

SCCS

Final Opinion on

Synthetic Biology III:

Risks to the environment and biodiversity related to synthetic biology and research priorities in the field of synthetic biology



The Scientific Committees adopted this Opinion:

the SCHER at its plenary meeting 27 November 2015, the SCENIHR at its plenary meeting on 3 December 2015 and the SCCS by written procedure on 4 December 2015.

#### About the Scientific Committees

Three independent non-food Scientific Committees provide the Commission with the scientific advice it needs when preparing policy and proposals relating to consumer safety, public health and the environment. The Committees also draw the Commission's attention to new or emerging problems, which may pose an actual or potential threat.

They are: the Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS), the Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (SCHER) and the Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) and are made up of external experts.

In addition, the Commission relies upon the work of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the European Medicines Agency (EMA), the European Centre for Disease prevention and Control (ECDC) and the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA).

#### SCHER

Opinions on risks related to pollutants in the environmental media and other biological and physical factors or changing physical conditions which may have a negative impact on health and the environment, for example in relation to air quality, waters, waste and soils, as well as on life cycle environmental assessment. It shall also address health and safety issues related to the toxicity and eco-toxicity of biocides.

It may also address questions relating to examination of the toxicity and eco-toxicity of chemical, biochemical and biological compounds whose use may have harmful consequences for human health and the environment. In addition, the Committee will address questions relating to methodological aspect of the assessment of health and environmental risks of chemicals, including mixtures of chemicals, as necessary for providing sound and consistent advice in its own areas of competence as well as to contribute to the relevant issues in close cooperation with other European agencies.

#### **SCHER members**

Alena Bartonova, Claire Beausoleil, María José Carroquino, Pim De Voogt, Raquel Duarte-Davidson, Teresa Fernandes, Jadwiga Gzyl, Colin Janssen, Renate Krätke, Jan Linders, Greet Schoeters

#### SCENIHR

This Committee deals with questions related to emerging or newly identified health and environmental risks and on broad, complex or multidisciplinary issues requiring a comprehensive assessment of risks to consumer safety or public health and related issues not covered by other Community risk assessment bodies. Examples of potential areas of activity include potential risks associated with interaction of risk factors, synergic effects, cumulative effects, antimicrobial resistance, new technologies such as nanotechnologies, medical devices including those incorporating substances of animal and/or human origin, tissue engineering, blood products, fertility reduction, cancer of endocrine organs, physical hazards such as noise and electromagnetic fields (from mobile phones, transmitters and electronically controlled home environments), and methodologies for assessing risks. It may also be invited to address risks related to public health determinants and non-transmissible diseases

#### **SCENIHR members**

Michelle Epstein, Igor Emri, Philippe Hartemann, Peter Hoet, Norbert Leitgeb, Luis Martínez Martínez, Ana Proykova, Luigi Rizzo, Eduardo Rodriguez-Farré, Lesley Rushton, Konrad Rydzynski, Theodoros Samaras, Emanuela Testai, Theo Vermeire

#### SCCS

The Committee shall provide opinions on questions concerning all types of health and safety risks (notably chemical, biological, mechanical and other physical risks) of non-food consumer products (for example: cosmetic products and their ingredients, toys, textiles, clothing, personal care and household products such as detergents, etc.) and services (for example: tattooing, artificial sun tanning, etc.)

#### **SCCS** members

Ulrike Bernauer, Qasim Chaudhry, Pieter-Jan Coenraads, Gisela H. Degen, Maria Dusinska, Werner Lilienblum, Elsa Nielsen, Thomas Platzek, Christophe Rousselle, Jan van Benthem

#### Contact:

European Commission Health & Food Safety Directorate C: Public Health Unit C2 – Health Information/ Secretariat of the Scientific Committee Office: HTC 03/073 L-2920 Luxembourg

SANTE-C2-SCENIHR@ec.europa.eu SANTE-C2-SCHER@ec.europa.eu SANTE-C2-SCCS@ec.europa.eu

ISSN 2315-0106 doi:10.2875/590512 ISBN 978-92-79-54973-1 EW-AZ-16-001-EN-N

The Opinions of the Scientific Committees present the views of the independent scientists who are members of the committees. They do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission. The Opinions are published by the European Commission in their original language only.

http://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific\_committees/policy/index\_en.htm

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Members of the Working Group are acknowledged for their valuable contribution to this Opinion. The members of the Working Group are:

<u>SCENIHR</u> Theo Vermeire (Chair) Michelle Epstein (Rapporteur) Philippe Hartemann Ana Proykova Luis Martinez Martinez

<u>SCHER</u> Teresa Fernandes

<u>SCCS</u> Qasim Chaudhry Suresh Chandra Rastogi

External experts Rainer Breitling Camille Delebecque Timothy Gardner Katia Pauwels James Philp Markus Schmidt Eriko Takano

All Declarations of Working Group members and supporting experts are available at the following webpage:

http://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific\_committees/emerging/members\_wg/index\_en.htm

#### ABSTRACT

In Opinion I on Synthetic Biology (SynBio), the three Scientific Committees SCHER, SCENIHR and SCCS answered three questions from the European Commission on the scope, definition and identification of the relationship between SynBio and genetic engineering and the possibility of distinguishing the two. The definition reads: Synthetic Biology is the application of science, technology and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms. In Opinion II, the three Scientific Committees addressed five questions focused on the implications of likely developments in SynBio for humans, animals and the environment and on determining whether existing health and environmental risk assessment practices of the European Union for Genetically Modified Organisms are adequate for SynBio. Additionally, the Scientific Committees were asked to provide suggestions for revised risk assessment methods and risk mitigation procedures including safety locks.

The current Opinion addresses specific risks to the environment from SynBio organisms, processes and products, partly in the context of Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity (CBD), identifies major gaps in knowledge to be considered for performing a reliable risk assessment and provides research recommendations resulting from gaps identified. The Scientific Committees confined the scope of their analysis to the foreseeable future, acknowledging that its findings should be reviewed and updated again after several years, depending on the development of the SynBio technology. Outside the scope of the current mandates are specific, thorough analyses of social, governance, ethical and security implications as well as human embryonic research.

Keywords: Synthetic biology; biotechnology; bioengineering; genetic engineering; microbiology; molecular biology; regulatory framework; genetically modified organisms (GMO); risk assessment; risk assessment methodology; risk mitigation; genetic part libraries; minimal cells; designer chassis; protocells and artificial cells; xenobiology; DNA synthesis and genome editing; citizen science; Do-It-Yourself biology.

Opinion to be cited as: SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks), SCHER (Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks), SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks), SCCS (Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety), Synthetic Biology III – Research priorities, Opinion, December 2015.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABST	RACT5
EXEC	JTIVE SUMMARY8
1.	BACKGROUND12
1.1.	General introduction12
1.2.	Legal background12
2.	TERMS OF REFERENCE13
3.	SCIENTIFIC RATIONALE
3.1.	Methodology13
3.2. and s the C	To review the state of the scientific knowledge concerning specific risks to the environment ynthesise it following the procedure and the requirements mentioned in the Decision XI/11 of BD and include the synthesis in its Opinion14
3.2.1.	Introduction14
3.2.2.	Key issues in the Decision XI/11 of the CBD that affect SynBio14
3.2.3.	Potential impacts of SynBio applications on conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity 15
3.2.4.	Specific risks to the environment per research area27
3.2.5.	Prevention of SynBio adverse effects on the environment
3.2.6.	Mitigation of SynBio adverse effects on the environment
3.3. areas	Major gaps in knowledge to be considered for performing a reliable risk assessment in the of concern
3.4.	Introduction Research recommendations on the main scientific gaps
3.4.1.	Research recommendations related to gaps in six novel SynBio developments
4.	OPINION
5.	MINORITY OPINION46
6.	CONSIDERATION OF THE RESPONSES RECEIVED DURING THE CONSULTATION PROCESS 47
7.	ABBREVIATIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS48
8.	REFERENCES
9.	ANNEXES
9.1.	Annex I Questions from the mandate57
9.2.	Annex II Abstract of Opinion I58
9.3.	Annex III Abstract of Opinion II60

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

In Opinion I on Synthetic Biology (SynBio), the three Scientific Committees (SCs) SCHER, SCENIHR and SCCS answered three questions from the European Commission on the scope, definition and identification of the relationship between SynBio and genetic engineering and the possibility of distinguishing the two. The definition reads: Synthetic Biology is the application of science, technology and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms. In Opinion II, the SCs addressed five questions focused on the implications of likely developments in SynBio for humans, animals and the environment and on determining whether existing health and environmental risk assessment practices of the European Union for Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) are adequate for SynBio. Additionally, the SCs were asked to provide suggestions for revised risk assessment methods and risk mitigation procedures including safety locks.

The current Opinion addresses specific risks to the environment from SynBio organisms, processes and products, partly in the context of Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity (CBD), identifies gaps in knowledge that is considered necessary for performing a reliable risk assessment and provides research recommendations resulting from gaps identified. The SCs have confined the scope of their analysis to the foreseeable future, acknowledging that its findings should be reviewed and updated again depending on the progress of SynBio technology. Outside the scope of the current mandates are specific, thorough analyses of social, governance, ethical and security implications of SynBio as well as human embryonic research.

This Opinion addresses questions 9-11 of the SynBio mandate:

*Question 9: To review the state of the scientific knowledge concerning specific risks to the environment and synthesise it following the procedure and the requirements mentioned in the Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity and include the synthesis in its Opinion.* 

The SCs analysed how key areas of the application of SynBio may affect the objectives of the CBD. They further analysed impacts on the so-called Aichi Biodiversity Targets for the 2011-2020 period. Bioenergy, agricultural and chemical industry applications of SynBio might drive significant land-use change towards feedstock production which may have negative impacts on biodiversity and conservation, e.g.,

- Increased extraction of biomass from agricultural land or from the natural environment could decrease soil fertility.
- Additional intensification of agriculture with a new end product may lead to effects on soil fertility and to overcome this, additional nutrients may be used.
- Negative impacts could also ensue from accidental releases.
- SynBio produces varieties of organisms, including future de-extincted species and products, and the debate around it could destabilise conservation efforts and diminish support for conservation due to reduced focus on species and habitat preservation.

Risks to the environment were analysed on the basis of Opinion II, key EU Framework projects and pertinent literature. Generic risk factors identified were mostly discussed in relation to impacts on biodiversity and conservation. These risk factors are related to accidental release, persistence of SynBio organisms intended for environmental release, such organisms becoming invasive or disruptive for food webs, transfer of genetic material from vertical gene flow or horizontal gene transfer. As in Opinions I and II, an analysis of specific risks to the environment was made for each of five novel SynBio developments: 1) Genetic part libraries and methods; 2) Minimal cells and designer chassis; 3) Protocells and artificial cells; 4) Xenobiology: 5) DNA synthesis and genome editing; and 6) Citizen science (e.g., Do-It-Yourself Biology (DIYBio). In general, risks are related to the emergence of new and uncharacterised biological functions, properties and products and the absence of appropriate comparator organisms for the risk assessment means that alternative approaches to risk assessment may be required. With respect to citizen science, the probability of unintentional harm might increase because more people are starting to actively work with biological material outside of conventional laboratory and institutional settings. Genetic firewalls might become necessary for improving containment compared with classical genetic engineering approaches. However, no single technology completely manages all biosafety risks. Many new approaches will be necessary and new forms of biocontainment and additional layers of containment using orthogonal systems will be required to further reduce environmental and health risks. Organisms, whether they are a product of SynBio or not, may not be retrieved once released or escaped into the environment. Risk mitigation is defined as risk reduction measures after deliberate or accidental release of SynBio organisms, components or products and after all biocontainment processes, safety locks and other preventive measures have failed. In specific and high-risk cases, risk mitigation may require a prepared, coordinated, efficient and proportional international response as well as the implementation of WHO International Health Regulation standards including the prior assessment of the necessity for international notification.

### *Question 10. What are the major gaps in knowledge to be filled for performing a reliable risk assessment in the areas of concern?*

The SCs addressed five SynBio research areas and citizen science as key areas of development in Opinion I and II to shed light on gaps of knowledge necessary to perform a reliable risk assessment of the current products and applications of SynBio. Major gaps identified are the lack of information and tools for predicting emergent properties of complex non-standard biological systems and the lack of tools for measurement of the structural differences between the original (natural) and the engineered organism. With respect to protocells, there is little or no information about the behaviour, impact and evolutionary ramifications of interactions of systems consisting of organisms and chemical non-living systems. Hazardous properties of future autonomous, replicating chemical systems, including allergenicity, pathogenicity and biological stability, are unknown. The full mechanistic understanding of underlying principles of semantic containment (e.g., the use of different genetic codes or alternative biochemistries of key informational biopolymers such as nucleic acids or amino acids) that would allow for a reliable prediction of the strength of semantic containment strategies is missing. The use of genome editing methods in a multiplexed fashion allows the simultaneous generation of a large number of variants, the genome-wide modification of organisms and a more accurate and precise change to the genomes of living organisms than those obtained by traditional, targeted genetic modification techniques according to current regulations. It is the scale and speed at which new and complex organisms will be generated and an increase in applications which might create additional challenges for risk assessment.

It is also necessary to establish the degree of risk reduction through the use of genetic firewalls. The methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information to risk assessors is not yet standardised across EU Member States and internationally, and are largely natural language. Such practices might limit the sophistication of quantitative analyses, data evaluation, efficiency and effectiveness of risk assessment. With respect to citizen scientists, there is a knowledge gap concerning their awareness of and compliance with the established biosafety requirements.

Question 11. SCENIHR, SCHER, and SCCS are requested to provide research recommendations on the main scientific gaps identified. The recommendations should also include methodological guidance on the experimental design and on the requirements of the proposals, in order to ensure data quality and comparability, as well as the usability of the results for risk assessment.

#### General recommendations

Research on standardised techniques to monitor biocontainment and survival in environments outside the bioreactor and to generate comparative data for use in quantitative biocontainment assessment.

#### Genetic parts

- Support a) research to characterise the interactions between modified and novel parts, b) development of computational tools to predict emergent new properties of SynBio organisms and their potential failure modes, including biological prediction tools that explicitly incorporate the uncertainty of molecular and genetic information and c) broad dissemination of and training in such tools and knowledge resources.
- Research approaches to streamline and standardise the methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information, including systems biology models, to risk assessors across EU Member States.
- Develop guidelines for risk assessors on the evaluation of potential emergent properties of genetically engineered systems.
- Research on the use of GMOs with a proven safety record as acceptable comparators for risk assessment so that the baseline state of safe organisms can advance step-by-step with the complexity of new modifications.

#### Minimal cells and designer chassis

- Research on the introduction of biosafety of modules at the design stage.
- Further fundamental research on quantifying and qualifying the evolutionary change of phenotypes through time is required to understand and predict how these two demands, increased genetic robustness and decreased environmental robustness, can be simultaneously satisfied.

#### Protocells

- More information is needed to assess the implications, as well as the environmental and evolutionary consequences of a collaborative interaction between non-living protocells and living organisms, including the host range and the specificity of collaborative interactions between protocells and natural cells.
- If protocells become life-like entities, it will be necessary to develop methods to assess the risk of allergenicity, pathogenicity and biological stability.
- More research is necessary to learn and increase knowledge about the ecological and evolutionary role of natural vesicles containing peptides, RNA and DNA.

#### Xenobiology

• Each individual chemical class of xeno-compounds (e.g., HNA, GNA) should initially be characterised and tested comprehensively (e.g., toxicity and allergenicity), including a risk assessment for emergent properties.

- Establish a methodology to quantitatively and qualitatively characterise xenobiologic organisms with respect to evolutionary fitness, ecological competitiveness, degree of horizontal gene flow, susceptibility to viruses, diseases and predation.
- Develop a clear and reliable metric to measure the escape frequency associated with different types of semantic containment.
- Improve the mechanistic understanding of underlying principles of semantic containment to allow for a reliable prediction of the strength of semantic containment strategies.

#### Citizen science

The SCs recommend the development of strategies to further increase and maintain the compliance of citizen scientists with harmonised European biosafety rules and codes of ethics, including collaboration with acknowledged institutions and training.

#### Additional research recommendations

For the improvement of risk assessment, additional recommendations were derived from the analysis of impacts on biodiversity and conservation and specific risks to the environment, including research on:

- Impacts from accidental or intentional introduction of SynBio organisms into the environment with emphasis on the effects on habitats, food webs and biodiversity.
- The difference in physiology of natural and synthetic organisms.
- Vertical or horizontal gene flow.
- Survival, persistence, ecological fitness and rate of evolutionary change.
- "de-extinction" and the debate around it.
- Containment strategies to prevent unintentional release of or exposure to organisms resulting from SynBio techniques.
- The environmental performance of SynBio processes and products, considering the full product life cycle.
- An emerging technology that uses similar techniques to the ones that are commonly applied in genome editing for SynBio applications are the so-called "gene drives". However, for the purposes of this Opinion, gene drives are not considered as falling under the definition of SynBio. While the methods used are related, gene drives aim at modifying the genetic composition of populations, not of individual organisms: an analysis of the risks and implications of "gene drives" is therefore outside the scope of this Opinion. Nevertheless, the increasing use of gene drive technology would certainly require a similar in-depth analysis, including a detailed assessment of its implications for risk assessment methodology and its potential impact on biodiversity and the environment.

Prioritisation of impact assessments can be based on prior knowledge available.

#### 1. BACKGROUND

This Opinion is the third in a series of three Opinions on Synthetic Biology (SynBio) responding to questions from the European Commission (Annex I). The overall, legal and scientific background underlying these questions from the Commission was discussed in the first Opinion (2014) and methodological and safety aspects were discussed in the second Opinion (2015). Abstracts of Opinion I and Opinion II are included in Annexes II and III, respectively.

#### **1.1.General introduction**

SynBio is the application of science, technology and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms. Synthetic biologists use engineering principles and re-design existing systems to better understand life processes. In addition, the objective is to generate and assemble functional modular components for the development of novel applications and processes such as synthetic life, cells or genomes. SynBio processes offer novel opportunities for the creation of new industries with profound economic implications for the European Union (EU) and other major economies. Just as advances in synthetic chemistry had a major impact on the shaping of modern societal and economic structures in the 19th and 20th centuries, SynBio promises substantial benefits for health, the environment, resource management and the economy. In addition to the promised benefits of SynBio, there are scientific uncertainties associated with the development of synthetic life, cells or genomes and their potential impact on the environment, the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity and human health. A precautionary approach in accordance with domestic legislation and other relevant international obligations is required to prevent the reduction or loss of biological diversity posed by organisms, components and products generated by SynBio.

#### **1.2.Legal background**

In December 2008, an EU Member State expert Working Group was established to analyse a list of new techniques which supposedly result in genetically modified organisms (GMOs) as defined under Directive 2001/18/EC on the deliberate release of GMOs and Directive 2009/41/EC on contained use of GM microorganisms (GMMs). Although most of the techniques analysed by the New Techniques Working Group (NTWG, 2012 New techniques working group, Final Report) were focused on the direct implications on plant breeding, synthetic genomics as a field within SynBio that may include techniques of genetic modification was also considered. The Report from this Working Group was finalised in January 2012 (NTWG, 2012) and the main conclusion was that synthetic genomics / SynBio is a fast-evolving field that differs from previous gene modification techniques. Furthermore, the NT Working Group was uncertain whether Directives 2009/41/EC and 2001/18/EC (see Section Annex V from the European GMO regulatory framework) were the appropriate legislation to cover synthetic genomics and SynBio. The SynBio WG was established with the mandate to address these uncertainties and to explore the implications of SynBio, including but not limited to synthetic genomics and related technologies.

#### 2. TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) was requested<sup>1</sup> to answer the following questions through a joint Opinion in association with SCHER and SCCS and, if relevant, other European Community bodies e.g., the European Environmental Agency (EEA) and the European Food Safety Agency (EFSA).

According to Terms of Reference, The Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) was requested to answer a set of 11 questions from the European Commission on SynBio (see annex I) through a joint Opinion in association with SCHER and SCCS and, if relevant, other European Community bodies e.g., the European Environmental Agency (EEA) and the European Food Safety Agency (EFSA). Questions 1-8 were answered in SynBio Opinions I and II. (SCENIHR, SCCS, SCHER, 2014 and 2015). Questions 9 through 11 are addressed in the present Opinion. The abstracts of SynBio I and SynBio II Opinions are attached as Annex II to the present Opinion. Although security issues<sup>2</sup> concerning SynBio are also important, the terms of reference pertain exclusively to safety and, thus, security issues will not be addressed in any of the three Opinions. In addition, the SCs did not deliberately address human embryonic research because it is outside of the scope of the mandate.

#### **Questions 9-11 of the Terms of Reference**

9. The SCENIHR, SCHER, SCCS are asked to review the state of the scientific knowledge concerning specific risks to the environment and synthesise it following the procedure and the requirements mentioned in the Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity (COP Decision XI/11) and include the synthesis in its Opinion.

10. What are the major gaps in knowledge to be filled for performing a reliable risk assessment in the areas of concern?

11. SCENIHR, SCHER, and SCCS are requested to provide research recommendations on the main scientific gaps identified. The recommendations should also include methodological guidance on the experimental design and on the requirements of the proposals, in order to ensure data quality and comparability, as well as the usability of the results for risk assessment.<sup>2</sup>

#### **3. SCIENTIFIC RATIONALE**

#### 3.1.Methodology

The aim of this work was to identify the nature and scope of activities related to the subject of SynBio. Information was primarily obtained from reports published in international peer-reviewed scientific journals in the English language. Additional sources of information were considered, including web-based information retrieval and documents from governmental bodies, authorities and non-governmental organisations. To facilitate the task of the Committee, the EC contracted 3 searches of the published literature. The first covered SynBio literature published from 2000 up to the beginning of 2013, the second up to early 2014 and the third covered papers published up to and including February 2015. In addition, a search was conducted of publications by governmental bodies relating to the regulation of GMOs and SynBio. The searches yielded approximately 800 publications. Relevant documents published before March 1st 2015, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>European Commission (2013) Request for a joint scientific opinion on Synthetic Biology. Brussels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Biosafety principles and practices aim at preventing the unintentional release of pathogens and/or toxins ("keeping bad bugs from people"); Biosecurity seeks to prevent the intentional release of pathogens and/or toxins ("keeping bad people from bugs"); European Parliamentary Technology Assessment (2011). EPTA Briefing Notes 1.

closing date for data considered for this Opinion, were identified and critically examined. Not all identified studies were included in the Opinion. The main task was to evaluate and assess the articles, their relevance to the topic and the scientific weight given to each of them. Only studies that were considered relevant for the task were included and commented upon in the Opinion. In some areas where the literature is particularly scarce, an explanation is provided for clarification. Detailed criteria for selecting studies were published in the SCENIHR Memorandum "Use of the scientific literature for human health risk assessment purposes, weighing of evidence and expression of uncertainty" (SCENIHR, 2012).

# 3.2.To review the state of the scientific knowledge concerning specific risks to the environment and synthesise it following the procedure and the requirements mentioned in the Decision XI/11 of the CBD and include the synthesis in its Opinion

#### 3.2.1. Introduction

In Opinions I and II, the SCs addressed the current knowledge of SynBio-related risks to the environment and health. In this section, risks to the environment in the context of COP Decision XI/11 of the CBD are elaborated with focus on the main research areas in SynBio (see Annex IV). First, the key issues in COP Decision XI/11 are explained, followed by an overview of positive and negative potential impacts. Next follows an analysis of specific risks to the environment with reference to Opinion II, key EU Framework projects and pertinent literature.

#### 3.2.2. Key issues in the Decision XI/11 of the CBD that affect SynBio

The key focus of this section is to address how SynBio may affect the objectives of the Convention on Biological Diversity, particularly by addressing any activities or processes that may lead to loss of biodiversity and ensure the implementation of actions that effectively reduce the rate of, halt or reverse the loss of biodiversity. The main relevant issues in this area are addressed in the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity (2011-2020), complemented by national biodiversity strategies and action plans.

Particularly COP Decision XI/11 with reference to IX/29 (Opinion I; section 3.3.2.8 and 3.3.2.9), §11 and §12, refers to the need to identify new and emerging issues related to the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. Criteria that will be used for identifying new and emerging issues related to conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity are laid down and include particular considerations on relevance, evidence, urgency, potential magnitude of impact on biodiversity, human well-being and/or services, geographic coverage, limitation/mitigation measures. To evaluate how these criteria apply to SynBio (COP Decision XI/11), the Conference of the Parties requested the Executive Secretary of the Convention of Biodiversity (CBD) to compile and synthesise relevant information on components, organisms and products obtained by the use of SynBio techniques that may have impacts on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity and associated social, economic and cultural considerations (see document UNEP/CBD/COP/12/INF/11). In addition, this should address any possible gaps and overlaps with the applicable provisions of the CBD, its Protocols and other relevant agreements related to components, organisms and products obtained by the use of SynBio techniques (see document UNEP/CBD/COP/12/INF/12). After both documents (UNEP/CBD/COP/12/INF/11 and UNEP/CBD/COP/12/INF/12) were subject to peer review and discussed during the eighteenth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA) (June 2014), the documents were made available to the twelfth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity in October 2014.

During its eighteenth meeting, the SBSTTA recognised that development of technologies associated with synthetic life, cells or genomes and the scientific uncertainties of their potential impact on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity are of relevance to the Convention. However, it also concluded that there is currently insufficient information available to finalise an analysis, using the criteria set out in §12 of Decision IX/29. Taking this into account, the Conference of the Parties to the CBD maintained its decision to take a precautionary approach, and it now awaits the completion of a robust analysis (Decision XII/24 of CBD). To this end, the executive secretary of the CBD will continue to compile relevant information submitted by Parties, governments, relevant organisations and other stakeholders. In addition, an Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group was established on the basis of the terms of reference as outlined in Decision XII/24 of CBD and met for the first time in 21 September 2015 (CBD, 2015b).

In this process, the main focus has been set on effective risk assessment and management procedures for regulating environmental release of any organisms, components or products resulting from SynBio applications as well as scientific assessments regarding potential effects on the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. Other issues are also addressed such as food security and socio-economic considerations, funding for research into SynBio risk assessment methodologies and promotion of interdisciplinary research that includes related socio-economic considerations. Appropriate risk assessment should be in place prior to any field trials for organisms, components or products resulting from SynBio applications.

### **3.2.3.** Potential impacts of SynBio applications on conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity

The text in this section highlights the key areas of application of SynBio that may impact biodiversity and conservation. These include potential positive and negative impacts as highlighted in UNEP/CBD/COP/12/INF/11.

**Bioenergy applications of SynBio** applied on a large scale: SynBio applications in the area of Bioenergy could reduce global dependence on fossil fuels and reduce harmful emissions (PCSBI 2010).

- SynBio tools may be used in designing "next generation" biofuels that will overcome challenges of "first generation" biofuels made from food crops (Webb & Coates 2012). SynBio offers the potential to overcome some perplexing technical barriers for the production of second-generation biofuels from non-food crops and waste. Three areas of high relevance are consolidated bioprocesses (CBP) (e.g., Bokinsky *et al.*, 2011), micro- (Reijnders *et al.*, 2014) and macro-algae (van Hal *et al.*, 2014) for biofuels and fermentation of industrial waste gases (Bomgardner, 2012). In CBP, both biomass-degrading and biofuel-producing capabilities are incorporated into a single organism: this may be the ultimate low-cost configuration for cellulose hydrolysis and fermentation (US DoE, 2006). The use of algae for biofuels production relieves pressure on land, but natural microbial strains are not optimised for industrial production (Raman *et al.*, 2014). Similarly, industrial waste gas fermentation removes the need for biomass, but this relies heavily on genetic modification it is ripe for SynBio research.
- Use of biomass as feedstock in SynBio processes may be an environmentally beneficial shift from non-renewable resources (Erickson *et al.*, 2011; Georgianna & Mayfield 2012).
- SynBio bioenergy applications could lead to increased extraction of biomass from agricultural land, which may decrease soil fertility and would potentially affect nutrient use and management (ICSWGSB 2011; Fixen 2007).

- Increased demand for biomass could lead to displacement of local sustainable uses and lead to environmental harm in tropical and sub-tropical communities (ETC 2010; FOE *et al.*, 2012; FOE 2010).
- If SynBio techniques open up new sources of energy such as algae and seaweed, increased demand might encroach on traditional uses of these resources (ETC 2013).
- The accidental release of organisms resulting from SynBio techniques for bioenergy production could have a negative impact on biodiversity and conservation (section 3.1.5).
- Bioenergy production and use have the dual goal of increasing energy security and mitigating climate change. Biofuels policies in Europe centre on the Renewable Energy Directive and the partial replacement of fossil fuels with biofuels to help meet emissions targets.

#### Environmental applications of SynBio

- Microorganisms resulting from SynBio techniques may be used in the degradation of contaminants, leading to a more 'environmentally sound' approach to bioremediation (Kirby 2010).
- Microorganisms resulting from SynBio techniques may be used as biosensors, helping to identify areas contaminated with specific pollutants (French *et al.*, 2011).
- The deliberate release into the environment of microorganisms obtained by the use of SynBio techniques could potentially have negative impacts on biodiversity and conservation (section 3.1.4).

#### Wildlife-targeted applications of SynBio

- It has been suggested that SynBio applications should in the long-term be used to restore extinct species ("de-extinction"), and this has been suggested as possibly leading to the restoration of ecological richness (Church 2013; Redford *et al.*, 2013). It has been proposed that de-extinction could provide a new paradigm for biodiversity advocacy, based on pro-active action, rather than post-effect activity (Brand 2013; Redford 2013).
- It has, on the other hand, been suggested that de-extinction research may have a destabilising effect on conservation, potentially resulting in species loss, due to potentially reduced focus on species and habitat preservation (Temple 2013). For example, proposed SynBio approaches might move voluntary and statutory stakeholders away from addressing underlying causes for biodiversity loss (Ehrenfeld 2013; Ehrlich 2013, Redford *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, support for *in situ* conservation might be reduced, with impacts on support for existing protected areas potentially increasing (Redford *et al.*, 2013). The same authors describe the potentially reduced willingness to conserve endangered species as a "moral hazard" of de-extinction research.
- SynBio applications might help to identify and treat wildlife diseases (Allendorf *et al.*, 2010), as well as target threats to wildlife, such as disease vectors (Weber & Fussenegger, 2012).

#### Agricultural applications of SynBio

- The use of synthetic organisms in the agricultural production sectors might foster "sustainable intensification" and "land sparing", leading to reduced land conversion and increased protection of wild habitats (Redford *et al.*, 2013).
- Reduced use of chemical pesticides and fertilisers enabled by the use of genetically modified crops could have positive ecological impacts (PCSBI 2010).
- Industrial uses of SynBio might drive significant land-use change towards feedstock production, which could have beneficial or negative impacts on biodiversity and conservation (Erickson *et al.*, 2011; Redford *et al.*, 2013).

#### Applications of SynBio to replace natural materials

• Molecules produced through SynBio could enable conservation of plants and animals currently unsustainably harvested from the wild or through unsustainable cultivation (BIO 2012).

#### Applications of SynBio to replace materials made with synthetic chemistry

- SynBio alternatives for chemical products and industrial processes could lead to decreased use of non-renewable resources and less environmentally harmful manufacturing processes (Garfinkel & Friedman 2010).
- The increased use of SynBio-based production processes could promote the transition to sustainable production and consumption, which might protect biodiversity (Redford *et al.*, 2013).
- SynBio alternatives for chemical products and industrial processes might not actually be more sustainable than traditional products; this has, e.g., been argued in the case of current bioplastics (ETC 2010, Schmidt 2012).
- Industrial uses of SynBio might drive significant land-use change towards feedstock production, which could have beneficial or negative impacts on biodiversity and conservation (Erickson *et al.*, 2011; Redford *et al.*, 2013).
- The transition to a bioeconomy envisages a gradual replacement of fossil fuels and petrochemicals with bio-based equivalents (using sugar bio-based carbon compounds as feedstock instead of oil or gas) (US DoE 2004). The basis is that bio-based equivalents should produce fewer negative environmental impacts and can be used by countries to meet their emissions reduction targets in line with the goals of the Copenhagen Accord, whilst also protecting biodiversity.
- Based on twelve extremely important industrial materials, Saygin *et al.* (2014) estimated significant  $CO_2$  emissions savings of some bio-based materials compared to their petrochemical equivalents. These savings translate to an average of 2.5 ± 1.6 tonnes less  $CO_2$  emitted per tonne bio-based material produced confirming earlier findings by Weiss *et al.* (2012), and consistent with Hermann *et al.* (2007).
- The environmental performance of bio-based materials should remain a research focus due to a host of future uncertainties e.g., fossil fuel prices, sugar prices, individual differences in emissions reductions of bio-based materials and indirect land use change (ILUC) developments.

In decision X/2 of the tenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, held from 18 to 29 October 2010, in Nagoya, Aichi Prefecture, Japan, a revised and updated Strategic Plan for Biodiversity, including the Aichi Biodiversity Targets, for the 2011-2020 period was adopted. Table 1 highlights the potential SynBio impacts on reaching the Aichi Biodiversity Targets. The timescales mentioned in the Aichi targets may be too ambitious. The predictions made by SCs do not go beyond 2025 (10 years ahead).

#### **Table 1: Potential impacts of SynBio on reaching the Aichi targets**

Strategic Goal A: Address the ur society	nderlying causes of bio	diversity	loss by mai	instreaming I	biodiversity across gove	rnment and
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
1. By 2020, at the latest, people are aware of the values of biodiversity and the steps they can take to conserve and use it sustainably.	Positive: nature provides a great amount of not yet discovered useful genetic parts. Contribution to sustainable use of biodiversity.	None	None	Negative: artificial diversity could lead to lack of perceived value of natural biodiversity.	DNA Synthesis (in connection with DNA sequencing) in combination with potential species de-extinction could undermine conservation efforts; consequently decreasing the perceived value of true biodiversity. Genome editing = engineered diversity at intra-species level may reduce incentive for maintaining genetic diversity of natural organisms.	Citizen science, in its role as engaging lay people with science and biology, could help to increase appreciation for natural biodiversity and its value.
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
2. By 2020, at the latest, biodiversity values have been integrated into national and local development and poverty reduction strategies and planning processes and are being incorporated into national accounting, as appropriate, and reporting systems.	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
3. By 2020, at the latest, incentives, including subsidies, harmful to biodiversity are eliminated, phased out or reformed to minimise or avoid negative impacts, and positive incentives for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity are	None	None	None	None	None	None
and sustainable use of biodiversity are			18			

developed and applied, consistent and in harmony with the Convention and other			
relevant international obligations, taking			
into account national socio economic			
conditions.			

#### Strategic Goal B: Reduce the direct pressures on biodiversity and promote sustainable use

Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
4. By 2020, at the latest, governments, business and stakeholders at all levels have taken steps to achieve or have implemented plans for sustainable production and consumption and have kept the impacts of use of natural resources well within safe ecological limits.	Potentially, "green" production methods based on SynBio could lead to reduced consumption of non-renewable resources (esp. oil), but also risk of increased burden on the natural environment and conflict with keeping impact within safe ecological limits. While production of certain chemicals may be made more efficient, increased demand for raw material (sugar) could have a detrimental impact on biodiversity	None	None	None	None	Citizen science could help to promote sustainable production and consumption.
5. By 2020, the rate of loss of all natural habitats, including forests, is at least halved and where feasible brought close to zero, and degradation and fragmentation are significantly reduced.						

Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
6. By 2020 all fish and invertebrate stocks and aquatic plants are managed and harvested sustainably, legally and by applying ecosystem-based approaches, so that overfishing is avoided, recovery plans and measures are in place for all depleted species, fisheries have no significant adverse impacts on threatened species and vulnerable ecosystems and the impacts of fisheries on stocks, species and ecosystems are within safe ecological limits.	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
7. By 2020, areas under agriculture, aquaculture and forestry are managed sustainably, ensuring conservation of biodiversity.	Positive: Genetically modified crops produced by SynBio could lead to decreases in pesticide or fertiliser use, as seen or expected for some established GMO crops (e.g., Bt strains). Negative: Concerns have been raised about the effect of such genetically modified crops on the biodiversity in agro- ecosystems, e.g., toxicity to non-target species. This concern could potentially also apply to the next generation of SynBio crops.	None	None	None	None	None

Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
		chassis				
8. By 2020, pollution, including from excess nutrients, has been brought to levels that are not detrimental to ecosystem function and biodiversity.	Industrial processes that produce pollution may be superseded by more SynBio based environmentally friendly replacements.	None	None	None	None	None
9. By 2020, invasive alien species and pathways are identified and prioritised, priority species are controlled or eradicated, and measures are in place to manage pathways to prevent their introduction and establishment.	Neutral in the medium term: potential biocontrol strategies based on SynBio are too immature to consider using them. Potentially negative beyond 2020: synthetically modified species could become invasive.	None	None	Forms of life not known from nature could on the one hand be considered to increase biodiversity (if one accepts the idea that organisms that are not linked to the common evolutionary tree are contributing to biodiversity), but could also lead to the establishment of novel invasive species.	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
10. By 2015, the multiple anthropogenic pressures on coral reefs and other vulnerable ecosystems impacted by climate change or ocean acidification are minimised, so as to maintain their integrity and functioning.	2015! None	2015! None	2015! None	2015! None	2015! None	2015! None

#### Strategic Goal C: To improve the status of biodiversity by safeguarding ecosystems, species and genetic diversity

Aichi TARGETS	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
11. By 2020, at least 17 per cent of terrestrial and inland water, and 10 per cent of coastal and marine areas, especially areas of particular importance for biodiversity and ecosystem services, are conserved through effectively and equitably managed, ecologically representative and well connected systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures, and integrated into the wider landscapes and seascapes.	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
12. By 2020 the extinction of known threatened species has been prevented and their conservation status, particularly of those most in decline, has been improved and sustained.	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
13. By 2020, the genetic diversity of cultivated plants and farmed and domesticated animals and of wild relatives, including other socio-economically as well as culturally valuable species, is maintained, and strategies have been developed and implemented for minimising genetic erosion and safeguarding their genetic diversity.	Positive: SynBio could result in a renewed appreciation of the value of genetic diversity of cultivated plants and farmed and domesticated animals, as a source of valuable building blocks for genetic engineering approaches. Negative: The ability of designing and producing improved plant varieties based on genome sequence	None	None	None	Rather negative, with the option to re-synthesise any genome from scratch, the pressure to maintain landraces and wild relatives will become more and more reduced.	None

	data could reduce the focus on conserving old land races and the need to preserve wild relatives, once they have been sequenced.			
1				

Strategic Goal D: Enhance the benefits to all from biodiversity and ecosystem services								
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science		
14. By 2020, ecosystems that provide essential services, including services related to water, and that contribute to health, livelihoods and well-being, are restored and safeguarded, taking into account the needs of women, indigenous and local communities, and the poor and vulnerable.	Ranging from positive to negative. Biosensors, for example, could help people in poor countries to test the quality of the water. But in general the design goals in SynBio are almost exclusively driven by developed countries, financial and intellectual elites, and so far very little attention has been paid to the interests of the marginalised communities, and the poor and vulnerable.	Maybe as a chassis for biosensors. See left field.	None	None	None	DIYBio already helps to empower women, indigenous and local communities, and the poor and vulnerable to use (synthetic) biology for their own needs. It is, however, not clear if this will contribute to the restoration and safeguarding of essential ecosystem services.		

Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
15. By 2020, ecosystem resilience and the contribution of biodiversity to carbon stocks has been enhanced, through conservation and restoration, including restoration of at least 15 per cent of degraded ecosystems, thereby contributing to climate change mitigation and adaptation and to combating desertification.	Positive: SynBio organisms could lead to more resilient (salt/draught resistant) agro-ecosystems that could contribute to reversing desertification and support a higher level of biodiversity, e.g., due to reduced use of pesticides. Negative: increased drain on natural resources to generate feedstock for SynBio.	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
16. By 2015, the Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilisation is in force and operational, consistent with national legislation.	None	None	None	None	None. However, the Nagoya Protocol does not explicitly define the exchange of genomic data, e.g., sequenced in one country, sent by electronic means (not physically) and then synthesised in another country. So, DNA sequencing and synthesis could provide a loophole to the Nagoya protocol.	None

Strategic Goal E: Enhance imple	mentation through pa	articipatory	planning,	knowledge m	nanagement and capacit	y building
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
17. By 2015 each Party has developed, adopted as a policy instrument and commenced implementing an effective, participatory and updated national biodiversity strategy and action plan.	None	None	None	None	None	None
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
18. By 2020, the traditional knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, and their customary use of biological resources, are respected, subject to national legislation and relevant international obligations, and fully integrated and reflected in the implementation of the Convention with the full and effective participation of indigenous and local communities, at all relevant levels.	Negative: see targets 14 and 16. Also, SynBio methods (genetic parts, DNA synthesis) might decrease the value of customary use of biological resources, threatening traditional practices and excluding indigenous and local communities from the exploitation of biological diversity.	None	None	None	Negative: see target 16. Also, SynBio methods (genetic parts, DNA synthesis) might decrease the value of customary uses of biological resources, threatening traditional practices and excluding indigenous and local communities from the exploitation of biological diversity.	DIYBio in developing countries could help to increase awareness of traditional knowledge and local biological resources.
Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
19. By 2020, knowledge, the science base and technologies relating to biodiversity, its values, functioning, status and trends, and the consequences of its loss, are improved, widely shared and transferred, and applied.	None, possibly positive: scie understanding of natural sys insights into population gene knowledge, but also about s intellectual property in the c	ntific insights t stems. Researc etics, populatio haring, transfe context of SynB	pased on attem h into containm n dynamics, ev rring, and apply io.	pts to engineer or ient strategies for olution and ecolo <u>c</u> ying knowledge. It	ganisms by SynBio could contribu SynBio organisms will lead to mo yy. This target is not just about in t is thus an appropriate target for	Ite to a better ore fundamental nproving · considering

Aichi TARGET	Genetic parts	Minimal cells and designer chassis	Protocells	Xenobiology	DNA synthesis	Citizen science
20. By 2020, at the latest, the mobilisation of financial resources for effectively implementing the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 from all sources, and in accordance with the consolidated and agreed process in the Strategy for Resource Mobilisation, should increase substantially from the current levels. This target will be subject to changes contingent to resource needs assessments to be developed and reported by Parties.	None	None	None	None	None	None

#### 1 **3.2.4.** Specific risks to the environment per research area

#### 2 General issues

3 The following events were considered in the literature. These would need a more 4 thorough analysis of the probability at which they can occur and the impacts these may 5 have. The order of the generic risks is not in order of priority.

- Accidental release of SynBio organisms engineered for contained use may lead to
  their survival and propagation in the environment (Garfinkel and Friedman, 2010;
  Lorenzo, 2010; RAE 2009; Snow and Smith, 2012; Dana *et al.*, 2012).
- Accidental release could affect water/wastewater treatment processes (specifically biological processes) through the interaction with indigenous microorganisms (Unnithan *et al.*, 2014; Guo *et al.*, 2014) as well as they may be undertaken to unpredictable genetic changes/transformations (e.g., mutants formation, antibiotic resistance transfer) in chemical oxidation/disinfection (based water/wastewater treatment plants (Dunlop *et al.*, 2015; Luddeke *et al.*, 2015).
- Persistence of an organism designed for environmental release. (Anderson *et al.*, 2012; Pauwels *et al.*, 2012).
- Organisms resulting from SynBio techniques could become invasive or disrupt food
   webs (Redford *et al.*, 2013; Snow and Smith, 2012; Wright *et al.*, 2013).
- Transfer of DNA from vertical gene flow or horizontal gene transfer (König *et al.*, 2013; Wright *et al.*, 2013).
- Potential impacts on biodiversity and ecosystems from "de-extinction" (Donlan, 2014; Seddon *et al.*, 2014).

#### 23 Genetic parts

24 SynBio library construction and parts characterisation may increase the frequency of use 25 of uncharacterised components, and/or the diversity of biological functions. The function 26 of these systems may be "emergent," i.e. they arise from the interactions of the parts 27 with each other. Emergent functions may include conditional, time-varying and non-28 linear (non-proportional) behaviours (Guet et al., 2002). The current Directives 29 2001/18/EC and 2009/41/EC for risk assessment consider these emergent properties by 30 requiring an assessment of the proposed or realised GMM/GMO, in addition to an 31 assessment of the properties of component parts. Notably, the emergent properties may 32 present new challenges in predicting or testing for risks and in the identification of 33 appropriate comparator organisms.

#### 34 Minimal cells and designer chassis

- 35 The four primary biosafety considerations with chassis cells are (Dana *et al.*, 2012):
- Survival of synthetic organisms in receiving environments.
- Gene transfer.
- Interactions between synthetic and natural organisms.
- Adaptation of synthetic organisms to new ecological niches.

40 Much depends on the ability of a chassis organism to survive in the environment and to 41 exchange genetic material with other organisms within it. For biotechnology applications, 42 reducing the genomes of *Escherichia coli* (E. *coli*) and other minimal risk (BSL-1) biotechnology workhorses seems most useful (Jewett & Forster, 2010). On the other
hand, minimal genomes may not constitute the best chassis, because robust and rapid
growth and access to multiple pathways seem to benefit from larger genomes.

4 In many cases, commonly used chassis organisms, often derived by a process of 5 laboratory "domestication" from wild-type bacteria and yeasts (e.g., Saccharomyces), 6 are generally safe - their genome is already significantly reduced during the process of 7 domestication, removing, e.g., a variety of pathogenicity factors and introducing useful 8 fragilities to the system to further reduce escape potential. Of great significance to 9 biosafety is the fact that, with a highly reduced genome, SynBio-based minimal cells will 10 be restricted to a very narrow ecological niche (Schmidt et al., 2009), and are less likely 11 to survive for long periods in the event of accidents releasing them to the environment, 12 typically wastewater treatment systems and soil.

13 While confinement to a small ecological niche is likely when considering the continuous 14 existence of an independent organism, other evolutionary routes could lead to the 15 establishment of an endosymbiontic relationship with another organism and eventually 16 the establishment of an organelle (see e.g., Ochoa 2014, McFadden 2001). It is unclear 17 if a small genome or cell size would favour the uptake of the cell by another bigger cell, 18 but could indeed increase the chance for the evolution it of а new 19 endosymbiont/organelle. Research into possible ongoing endosymbiontic processes could 20 help to shed more light on the matter (Okamoto and Inouye 2005).

21 Another point of reference is the very large or "giant" virus (Claverie et al., 2006). 22 Recent years have seen the discovery (La Scola et al., 2003) of a large virus with 23 genomes (>1Mbp) larger than even the smallest genomes of free, living cells (e.g., 24 Mycoplasma species can have only 0.58 Mbp). Little is known about the evolution of the 25 large virus, but it cannot be ruled out that they derive from small cells. Mimivirus, for 26 example, still owns a much more complete set of translation-associated genes than non-27 giant virus. Some researchers have speculated that the Mimivirus may have evolved 28 from a free-living cell (Raoult et al., 2004). Future research will need to explore the 29 origin of this large virus and if minimal cells have any reasonable chance of 30 "downgrading" themselves to a viral existence.

#### 31 Protocells

32 Currently, protocells are non-living vesicles and will likely be confined to the laboratory 33 for the short- to medium-term. Although the objective is for such cells to replicate, this 34 is not yet possible. Therefore, dispersion is not possible because of the lack of cell 35 viability. Risks related to protocell research are no higher than the risks in biological and 36 chemistry laboratories because the current state-of-the-art research does not create 37 novel, viable artificial cells. In the future, exposure to autonomous artificial cells that 38 survive in the laboratory and in the environment might be possible. Although protocells 39 are not alive, they can be engineered to intimately interact with living cells and enhance 40 overall system functionality (Lentini et al., 2014). Thus, novel biological functions can be 41 designed without altering the DNA of these target organisms. If autonomous artificial 42 cells are created in the future, the genetic information that controls internal functioning 43 might mutate or be horizontally transferred. Thus, a population of protocells with 44 different genetic information could undergo selection and new protocells could arise 45 (Bedau et al., 2009).

#### 1 Xenobiology

2 The use of non-standard biochemical systems in living cells, e.g., xenonucleic acid XNA, 3 alternative base pairs, etc., has implications for risk assessment and biosafety. New 4 variants must be tested for risk to human health or to the environment, and the 5 xenobiological systems may be engineered to allow for improved biocontainment, e.g., 6 the so-called 'genetic firewall' that aims to avoid the exchange of genetic material 7 through horizontal gene transfer or sexual reproduction between the xenobiology and 8 natural organisms. The assumption is that xeno-systems would not survive after 9 accidental release due to their custom-made auxotrophies.

#### 10 **DNA synthesis and genome editing**

The new technologies for DNA synthesis and genome editing such as TALEN, CRISPR (Sander et al., 2014; Zetsche et al., 2015) and MAGE (Gallagher et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2015) accelerate genetic modification and increase the range and number of modifications that are easily possible. The increased speed of modifications might pose challenges to risk assessment, while not in itself creating new risks.

16 An emerging technology that uses similar techniques to the ones that are commonly 17 applied in genome editing for SynBio applications are the so-called "gene drives" (Esvelt 18 et al. 2014; Oye et al., 2014; Gantz and Bier, 2015). However, for the purposes of this 19 Opinion, gene drives are not considered as falling under the definition of SynBio, i.e. "the 20 application of science, technology and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, 21 manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms". While the 22 methods used are related, gene drives aim at modifying the genetic composition of 23 populations, not of individual organisms; an analysis of the risks and implications of 24 "gene drives" is therefore outside the scope of this Opinion. Nevertheless, the increasing 25 use of gene drive technology would certainly require a similar in-depth analysis, 26 including a detailed assessment of its implications for risk assessment methodology and 27 its potential impact on biodiversity and the environment.

#### 28 Citizen science

While the hazard remains the same, e.g., infection with pathogenic organisms, the probability of unintentional harm might increase, because more people are starting to actively work with biological material outside of conventional laboratory and institutional settings. However, as long as the citizen science community is well informed and adequate safety measures are implemented (equivalent to those implemented in the traditional professional community), the overall additional risk would be minimal.

#### 35 **3.2.5.** Prevention of SynBio adverse effects on the environment

36 An important task of a safety discussion is to explore how SynBio itself may contribute towards overcoming existing and possible future biosafety problems by contributing to 37 38 the design of safer biosystems, for example: A) Designing less competitive organisms by 39 changing metabolic pathways; B) Replacing metabolic pathways with others that have an 40 in-built dependency on external biochemicals; C) Designing evolutionary robust 41 biological circuits; D) Using biological systems based on an alternative biochemical 42 structure to avoid e.g., gene flow to and from wild species; E) Designing protocells that 43 lack key features of living entities, such as growth or replication (Schmidt, 2009). 44 Gressel et al. (2013), for instance, discuss the environmental risk of spills of genetically

1 modified microalgae used for biofuels production by physical containment and by 2 genetically precluding the algae from replicating and competing in nature by introducing 3 genes which severely decrease their fitness in natural ecosystems. Silencing or loss of 4 such traits can be prevented by coupling them with a selectable trait such as herbicide 5 resistance.

6 In Opinion II (Final Opinion on synthetic biology II, 2015), the SCs stressed that 7 currently available safety locks used in genetic engineering are not yet sufficiently 8 reliable for SynBio. For instance, genetic safeguards such as auxotrophy and kill switches 9 are not sufficiently reliable/robust for field release of engineered bacteria because of 10 mutation and positive selection pressure for mutants that may lead them to escape 11 safeguards. Notably, SynBio approaches that provide additional safety levels, such as 12 genetic firewalls, may improve containment compared with classical genetic engineering. 13 However, no single technology solves all biosafety risks, and many new approaches and 14 combinations of existing and upcoming new strategies will be necessary.

15 Coming up with a blueprint of a general strategy for designing inherently safe applications of SynBio is demanding because of the stochastic and probabilistic character 16 17 of the underlying biochemical SynBio processes and the incomplete characterisation of 18 the parts and chassis used in SynBio engineering, as well as their potential interactions. 19 General biocontainment approaches are based on 1) physical containment, 2) inhibition 20 of uptake, 3) incorrect translation, 4) inability to replicate, 5) absence of host immunity 21 and 5) endogenous toxicity. The SCs recommended a clear strategy for the analysis, 22 development, testing and prototyping of applications based on new forms of 23 biocontainment and additional layers of containment using orthogonal systems.

#### 24 **3.2.6.** Mitigation of SynBio adverse effects on the environment

25 Mitigation is defined by the SCs as risk reduction measures that can be taken after 26 deliberate or accidental release of SynBio organisms, components or products and when 27 all biocontainment processes, safety locks and other preventive measures have failed. It 28 is widely asserted that organisms, resulting from SynBio techniques or not, may not be 29 retrieved once released (Dana *et al.*, 2012; Snow and Smith, 2012; CBD, 2015a).

For the prevention of a biological incident of any type, the main goal of contingency planning should be to mitigate an event whether it is deliberate, accidental, or a naturally occurring release, which may be difficult to distinguish at first. In specific and in high-risk cases, a prepared, efficient and proportional international response may limit the size and scope of such releases as well as the implementation of IHR standards (international health regulations; WHO, 2005), including the prior assessment of the necessity for international notification (Gronvall, 2015).

### 37 **3.3. Major gaps in knowledge to be considered for performing a reliable risk** 38 **assessment in the areas of concern**

Reflecting on the SynBio engineering mantra, also quoted by physicist Richard Feynman, "What I cannot create, I do not understand", the SCs understand that *creating is necessary but not sufficient* to understand the outcomes and products of SynBio. The gap between creating and understanding a SynBio organism is the driving force behind the question, "Do I understand what I can create?" (Schmidt, 2009). The SCs thus addressed the five SynBio areas and citizen science to shed light on gaps of knowledge currently present in SynBio for performing a reliable risk assessment for human health
 and the environment.

#### 3 Genetic parts

4 Tools for predicting emergent properties of complex biological systems may not be 5 sufficiently accurate or may not be available to risk assessors, which limits prediction 6 and may impair the ability to accurately identify, test for or mitigate potential hazards. 7 Additionally, existing modelling and simulation tools for complex biological systems may 8 not quantify and assess the uncertainty of predictions (Breitling *et al.*, 2013) which 9 contrasts with predictive tools used in other engineering areas and further development 10 of corresponding tools for biological systems would be desirable.

Greater genetic distance between a SynBio organism and a comparator organism used in
 risk assessment results in decreased predictive abilities due to a higher number of novel
 interactions between modified and native parts.

14 The methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information to 15 risk assessors remain non-standardised across EU Member States and internationally, and are largely in natural language. Such practices could limit the sophistication of 16 17 quantitative analyses, data evaluation, efficiency and effectiveness of risk assessment. 18 Ideally, such information should be submitted in computable form using a single application format for all Member States to facilitate transparency among all 19 20 stakeholders, and to enable the application of the necessary prediction tools, including 21 molecular and organismal systems biology methods for the modelling of complex 22 biological systems (natural and engineered).

#### 23 Minimal cells and designer chassis

24 Robustness, a well understood concept in engineering, is a relatively new concept in 25 bioengineering. The concept of biological robustness is not yet fully clarified (Kitano, 26 2007). In traditional engineering disciplines, the robustness of a system is generally 27 considered a positive feature, however, for biosafety, parts, devices and systems that 28 extend robustness and environmental range of a chassis, e.g., tolerance of a wider range 29 of biotic and abiotic conditions, may be a negative feature because it may be a safety 30 issue (Schmidt, 2009). In contrast, fragility (i.e., lack of robustness) of a biological 31 system potentially reduces its predictability and might impair risk assessment. The 32 resulting trade-off is difficult to operationalise in a general framework.

33 In contrast to traditional engineered systems, the fundamental properties of engineered living systems can change over time, as a result of evolution and changes at the genetic 34 35 level. The likelihood of unexpected evolution and unpredictable behaviour of an engineered microbe (an empty chassis would not be released, but rather complete 36 37 systems, i.e. a chassis plus payload) if released into the environment is reduced if it is 38 less fit (although it is not yet clear how fitness and robustness should be distinguished in 39 this context, because they are related, but not identical). The extent of reduction in 40 evolutionary potential as a consequence of reduced fitness is speculative and different 41 for each organism and genetic payload. For engineering purposes, the ideal, but 42 unattainable, threshold is zero evolution, i.e. no change in a chassis organism's genome 43 over time. It is currently not known how close to neutral or even zero evolution can be 44 achieved. The challenge of defining biological robustness is difficult, because zero 45 evolution corresponds to maximal genetic robustness, but may be most efficiently

implemented by aiming for zero fitness, i.e. maximal fragility upon environmental release; fragility, in turn, should be implemented in a robust way (e.g., as a reliable safety lock), to avoid evolutionary escape. Moreover, evolution is an inherent feature of living systems, determined by the fundamental property of error-prone self-replication, even though evolutionary rates may potentially be reduced in engineered systems (Zakeri and Carr, 2015).

7 "In the end, safety is decided by humans" (Fischhoff et al., 1978) and an acceptable 8 level of risk must be assessed based on agreed thresholds using data generated from 9 agreed protocols and metrics, and interpreted in the context of socioeconomic 10 considerations and value judgements. There are many suggestions for metrics, but little 11 agreement, and consequently, metrics are currently lacking for use in decision-making. 12 For example, Mandell et al. (2015) consider that mutational escape frequency under 13 laboratory growth conditions is a necessary but insufficient metric to evaluate 14 biocontainment strategies.

#### 15 **Protocells**

Protocells do not exhibit the full set of characteristics needed for passing the definition
threshold of living organisms. They are more or less considered as chemistry systems
and fall under the risk assessment and regulation of chemicals.

19 Knowledge gaps can be envisaged in the following three cases:

- These protocells could, for a limited time, interact synergistically with real living organisms (Lentini *et al.*, 2014). To date, there is little or no information about the behaviour, impact and evolutionary ramifications of such systems consisting of organisms and chemical non-living systems.
- 24 Protocells could, in the not so distant future, be further engineered to fully pass the 25 definition threshold of living organisms. In this case, a form of life that is not directly 26 related to any other pre-existing organisms would be generated, which means that 27 no information would be available to evaluate the interaction between newly created 28 and naturally evolved life forms. Autonomous, replicating chemical systems, which 29 react dynamically to changes in their environment: hazardous properties of these 30 cells should be assessed in the context of their intended use (contained use activity 31 versus applications involving intentional release into the environment). Additionally, 32 allergenicity, pathogenicity, biological stability, etc. must also be considered (Bedau 33 et al., 2009). The framework for risk assessment of these cells should begin with, but 34 not necessarily be confined to, the methodology used for risk assessment of both 35 GMO and non-GMO biological organisms.
- 36 It is known that certain bacteria produce, under some circumstances, small lipid vesicles (Tetz et al., 1993) and load them with peptides (Schrempf et al., 2011) and 37 chunks of RNA and DNA (Biller et al., 2014), resulting in vesicles similar to protocells. 38 39 Currently, it is not fully understood why this occurs in bacteria and to what extent it 40 is an evolutionary advantage. Protocells, once released in the environment, could 41 inadvertently mimic these natural vesicles and interfere in yet unknown biological 42 functions. Biller et al., 2014 noted: "The ability of vesicles to deliver diverse 43 compounds in discrete packages adds another layer of complexity to the flow of 44 information, energy, and biomolecules in marine microbial communities."

#### 1 Xenobiology

The effects of non-standard biochemical molecules/systems, e.g., XNA, alternative base
pairs, etc., in living cells should be evaluated to ensure safe deployment for applications
in human health, agriculture and the environment.

5 The potential toxicity and allergenicity of novel xenobiological compounds should be 6 evaluated (Schmidt and Pei, 2011).

7 Organisms engineered with xenobiology could, e.g., exhibit changes in evolutionary 8 fitness, ecological competitiveness, degree of horizontal gene flow, susceptibility to 9 viruses, diseases and predation. As with any GMO, such changes should be 10 quantitatively and qualitatively characterised to support risk assessment. These data 11 should be made available to the institutional biosafety boards and national biosafety 12 authorities.

13 Xenobiology may be used to enhance biosafety engineering (semantic biocontainment), 14 e.g., through the application of biological orthogonal systems, such as genetic firewalls. 15 These novel biocontainment systems are, in general, expected to be more reliable if more xenobiological changes are introduced, hence the phrase "the farther the safer" 16 17 (Marlière, 2009). For example, a full re-shuffling of the triplets of the genetic code, in 18 combination with a new set of non-canonical proteinogenic amino acids, novel base pair 19 combinations and a different backbone, is considered "farther away" from the original 20 organism than if only one of these changes had been introduced. Each time another 21 change is done, the probability, e.g., for horizontal gene flow, is further reduced. One 22 important gap, however, is the lack of a *metric* to measure the structural (evolutionary) 23 distance between the original (natural) and the engineered xenobiological organism. 24 Establishing such a metric will be of paramount importance to the development, design, 25 testing and deployment of novel biocontainment systems based on xenobiology.

26 Currently, the only metric is the evaluation of the escape frequency of engineered 27 organisms (e.g., for auxotrophies). In an important study testing the biocontainment of 28 GMOs by synthetic protein design, Mandell et al. (2015) stated: "Our results 29 demonstrate that mutational escape frequency under laboratory growth conditions is a necessary but insufficient metric to evaluate biocontainment strategies." This metric has 30 31 at least two major shortcomings, first: the detection limit to assess the escape frequency 32 is about 10<sup>-11</sup>. The detection limit however, should be several orders of magnitude below 33 this value to generate useful information for deciding on the validity of a proper 34 containment system. The second shortcoming is the lack of standardised media to test 35 the escape frequencies for several potential escape environments. In a recent paper on 36 the experimental evaluation of a genetic firewall, Rovner et al. (2015) tested their 37 engineered strains on blood agar and soil extracts to allow for an improved evaluation of 38 the validity of the firewall. These environmentally aware additional tests should be 39 extended and standardised to allow for better predictability and comparability.

While escape frequency tests the survival and growth of (auxotrophic) strains, another test battery should be set up to assess the probability of horizontal gene flow from the novel strain to natural organisms, establishing the similar metrics, rigour and standards including escape frequencies.

#### 1 **DNA synthesis and genome editing**

2 The new technologies for DNA synthesis and genome editing underlie many of the 3 applications of SynBio discussed above; most importantly, those covered in the sections 4 of genetic parts and minimal cells, which both depend on the progress of DNA synthesis 5 and genome editing. The use of genome editing methods in a multiplexed fashion allow 6 the simultaneous generation of large number of variants, the genome-wide modification 7 of organisms and a more accurate and precise change to the genomes of living 8 organisms than those obtained by traditional, targeted genetic modification techniques according to current regulations. This considerably hampers the case-by-case approach 9 10 by which living organisms obtained by traditional targeted genetic modification techniques were risk assessed. The scale and speed at which new and complex 11 organisms will be generated might create additional challenges from a risk assessment 12 13 standpoint, because a case-by-case risk assessment, as currently adopted for living 14 organisms obtained by traditional genetic modification techniques, may no longer be 15 feasible.

#### 16 **Citizen science**

17 In principle, any amateur or citizen biologist (DIY biologist) in Europe who plans to carry 18 out work with SynBio or GMOs in Europe has to undergo the same safety regulations as 19 researchers in traditional institutions. Thus, the same caution and safety rules apply to 20 citizen scientists. A gap in knowledge and awareness of established biosafety rules in the 21 various European countries may arise and thus, reduce compliance. According to two 22 recent surveys in the USA (Grushkin et al., 2013) and Europe (Seyfried et al., 2014), the 23 do-it-yourself (DIY) biology groups comply with national laws and guidelines and actively 24 try to increase awareness for biosafety and ethical issues within their community. The 25 Grushkin et al. 2013 report, however, represented only those who voluntarily 26 participated via self-selection on an online survey. In the Seyfried et al. 2014 study, the 27 authors interviewed and visited labs in several European cities and identified groups that 28 actively promoted themselves over the web, and participated actively in European 29 community meetings. While both reports provide reassurance that biohackers are 30 constructive and aware of the dangers of biotechnology, they do not address individuals 31 or groups working outside of these groups. There is a potential risk that, without 32 appropriate oversight, activities of a roque biohacker may lead to biosecurity and/or 33 biosafety issues.

#### 34 **3.4.Introduction Research recommendations on the main scientific gaps**

#### 35 36

39

### 3.4.1. Research recommendations related to gaps in six novel SynBio developments

#### 37 Genetic parts

- 38 Support research
  - To characterise the novel interactions between modified and native parts
- To develop computational tools to predict emergent properties of SynBio
   organisms and their potential failure modes, including biological prediction
   tools that explicitly incorporate the uncertainty of molecular and genetic
   information
- 44 o Broad dissemination and training in such tools and knowledge resources.

 Research approaches to streamline and standardise across EU Member States the methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information, including systems biology models, to risk assessors. The level of detail of data to be provided should take into account the intended use (contained use versus deliberate release into the environment). Ideally, such information should be submitted in computable forms to facilitate transparency for all stakeholders, and to enable the application of the aforementioned prediction tools, including systems biology models.

Develop brief guidelines for risk assessors on the evaluation of potential emergent
 properties of genetically engineered systems.

 Research the use of GMOs with a proven safety record as acceptable comparators for risk assessment so that the baseline state of safe organisms can advance in step with the complexity of new modifications. Reliance solely on non-GMO organisms, as opposed to GM organisms with a history of safe use, would prevent the advance of baseline risk assessment controls. Alternatively, the use of GM organisms with a record of safety may better reflect the current understanding of risks.

#### 16 **Minimal cells and designer chassis**

Additional level of safeguards may be 'biosafety-aided design' to investigate the biosafety of modules at the design stage. Software designers in the SynBio community are currently developing safeguards to help scientists prevent unintentional creation of unsafe organisms before the system is actually built, but this is restricted to the level of individual sequences, such as the detection of matches to virulence factors (Moe-Behrens *et al.*, 2013). There is a need for the development of tools for reliable prediction of emergent safety issues at the systems level.

- 24 Current strategies are insufficient (Mandell *et al.*, 2015) as they:
- impose evolutionary pressure on the organism to 'evolve out' the safeguard by
   spontaneous mutagenesis or horizontal gene transfer, or:
- can be circumvented by environmental supplementation using compounds scavenged
   from the receiving environment.

The current consensus is that the bare minimum for safety of a deployed genetically 29 30 modified microorganism (GMM) for intentional environmental release (commercial, 31 experimental or environmental purposes) should consist of multiple safety devices of 32 different types (Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical Issues, 2010). The 33 SCs suggest the establishment of a public repository of well-characterised engineered 34 safe chassis and safety devices (e.g., toxin-antitoxin systems, altered genetic codes) 35 that ideally can be combined, in a modular manner, to allow for multi-layer safety 36 systems that are implemented for specific requirements. Relevant stakeholders should 37 agree upon a clear concept as to how this repository is organised and managed.

38 Juhas et al. in 2012 suggested that the next big challenge in SynBio is developing clever 39 systems for robust growth and radical genome changes that aim at producing useful 40 products. Changing the translational genetic code, including codons of essential genes, 41 could lead to generations of cells resistant to currently existing viruses or incapable of 42 survival outside the laboratory environment. While adding modules might make the 43 chassis less fit, increasing bioreactor robustness might also increase environmental 44 robustness. Additional research is required to establish the best approach to deal with 45 this trade-off.

Standardised techniques should be used to generate comparative data across both organisms and environments for use in quantitative biocontainment assessment. An example is a conjugation escape assay (Mandell *et al.*, 2015) to assess how DNA transfer within an ecosystem enables a GMO to escape biocontainment. The establishment of further standardised techniques and protocols would be useful.

Further work is required on designing synthetic constructs and microbes that are
intentionally out-competed over time. For this research to progress, more quantitative
data are needed on how GMMs perform in sample environments (Wright *et al.*, 2013).
The current lack of in-depth testing makes it difficult to accurately assess which safety
mechanisms and designs are best at preventing ecological invasion and horizontal gene
transfer.

12 Chassis organisms and their genetic payloads should be engineered for reduced rates of 13 evolution (increased robustness), while at the same time ensuring their fragility upon 14 accidental release (decreased robustness). Further fundamental research on quantifying 15 and qualifying the evolutionary change of phenotypes through time is required to 16 understand and predict how these two demands can be simultaneously satisfied. Zakeri 17 & Carr (2015) recently presented a conceptual analysis of evolution as a "significant and 18 absolute barrier" for SynBio, with a focus on the decline in functionality of engineered 19 systems as a result of evolution. Additional work (both theoretical and experimental) is 20 needed to determine how these ideas apply to more complex real-world scenarios, with 21 multiple and sometimes mutually exclusive objectives and functionalities.

#### 22 Protocells

23 The recommendations address the three identified gaps in protocell interaction.

- 24 More information is necessary to assess the implications, and the environmental and 25 evolutionary consequences of a collaborative interaction between non-living 26 protocells and living organisms as described in Lentini et al., 2014. Protocells are 27 possible functionality enhancers for living cells, delivering "prosthetic" capabilities not 28 present in the collaborating cells. For example, the host range should be identified to 29 avoid unlikely, but not impossible, infections by protocells, especially if they differ 30 from natural cells (Schmidt et al., 2009). Importantly, it is necessary to determine 31 the specificity of symbiotic interactions between protocells and natural cells and to 32 determine the outcome of unforeseen interactions of other cells with protocells.
- Preparation for the possibility of engineered protocells that are life-like entities, i.e.
   moving from protocells to real cells. This may prove difficult for risk assessors to
   judge the risk of new life forms on human health and the environment, e.g.,
   allergenicity, pathogenicity, biological stability, etc., because there are no natural
   counterparts and all information should be newly generated.
- More research is necessary on the ecological and evolutionary role of natural vesicles containing peptides, RNA and DNA. Because these natural vesicles are supposed to play a role in bacterial defence, protocells could inadvertently trigger, or interfere with, natural inter-bacterial communication pathways with an unclear outcome.

Besides, it is unclear to what extent existing regulations, such as the GMO regulations,
or the guidelines on invasive species will be used or whether it will be necessary to
create entirely new regulations and risk assessment guidelines.

#### 1 Xenobiology

Based on the aforementioned scientific gaps, the SCs recommend the following researchpriorities:

- Investigation of the potential toxicity and allergenicity of novel xenobiological
   compounds (i.e., the various non-canonical nucleic acids, amino acids and related
   molecules).
- Even when each individual chemical class of xeno-compounds (e.g., HNA, GNA) is initially characterised and comprehensively tested (e.g., for toxicity and allergenicity), a risk assessment is needed for emergent properties. In the future, for proven safety records of particular classes of xeno-compounds, applications of such classes are tested in the same way as classical DNA modifications, namely, based on a case-by-case assessment of the modified genetic information only.
- Establish a methodology to quantitatively and qualitatively characterise xenobiology
   organisms with respect to evolutionary fitness, ecological competitiveness, degree of
   horizontal gene flow, susceptibility to viruses and diseases or predation.
- To enable and enhance biosafety engineering (e.g., with genetic firewalls):
- Development of clear and reliable metrics to measure the escape frequency of different types of semantic containment (e.g., the use of different genetic codes, or alternative biochemistries of key informational biopolymers such as nucleic acids or amino acids).
- Improvement of the mechanistic understanding of underlying principles of
   semantic containment, to allow for a reliable prediction of the strength of
   semantic containment strategies.
- Improvement and standardisation of testing platforms for existing metrics for assessing the escape frequency well beyond rates of 10<sup>-11</sup> escapes per colony forming unit currently measurable in laboratory conditions and potential (unintended) target environments (e.g., soil, blood, water, etc.).
  - Improvement and standardisation of existing metrics to measure the horizontal gene flow from novel strain to natural organisms establishing similar metrics, rigour and standards as in the case of escape frequencies.
- Further development of xenobiology-based biocontainment systems such as
   genetic firewalls using the metrics and standardised testing platforms
   mentioned above.

#### 34 **DNA synthesis and genome editing**

The reader is referred to the recommendations under `genetic parts' and `minimal cells and designer chassis'.

The increasing use of gene drive technology, though outside the scope of this Opinion (section 3.1.4), would require an in-depth analysis, including a detailed assessment of its implications for risk assessment methodology and its potential impact on biodiversity and the environment.

#### 41 **Citizen science**

28

29 30

The SCs recommend the development of strategies on how to further increase the awareness and compliance of citizen scientists with national biosafety rules and codes of ethics. Existing tools, like the "ask a biosafety officer" approach should be further promoted and possible new ones added. A potential beneficial path would be to allow for an environment where citizen scientists have more opportunities to collaborate on a
case-by-case basis with traditional institutions, either virtual or physical. Further
support, especially for newcomers, to get for example an introductory course into
laboratory biosafety, could also be considered.

#### 1 **4. OPINION**

2 This Opinion is the third in a series of three on Synthetic Biology (SynBio) responding to questions from the European Commission. The overall, legal and scientific background 3 4 underlying these questions from the Commission were discussed in the first Opinion and 5 a definition of SynBio was proposed. In the second Opinion, the Scientific Committees 6 (SCs) addressed the five subsequent questions focusing on the implications of likely 7 developments in SynBio on human and animal health and the environment and on 8 determining whether existing health and environmental risk assessment practices of the 9 European Union for Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) are also adequate for 10 SynBio. Additionally, the SCs were asked to provide suggestions for revised risk 11 assessment methods and risk mitigation procedures, including safety locks.

12 The SCs confined the scope of its analysis to the foreseeable future (up to 10 years, *i.e.* 13 until 2025), acknowledging that its findings should be reviewed and updated after 14 several years, depending on the progress of SynBio technology. Outside the scope of the 15 current mandates are specific, thorough analyses of social, governance, ethical and 16 security implications of SynBio as well as human embryonic research.

17 Recognising that SynBio evolved from and shares much of the methodologies and tools 18 of genetic engineering, it is considered in this Opinion, as well as in the previous ones, 19 that the risk assessment methodology of contained use activities and activities involving 20 the deliberate release of GMOs are built on principles outlined in the Directives 21 2001/18/EC and 2009/41/EC and in Guidance notes published in Commission Decision 22 2000/608/EC.

The SCs focus their analysis on five research areas and one trend in SynBio: genetic part libraries and methods, protocells, minimal cells and designer chassis, xenobiology, DNA synthesis and genome editing and citizen science.

26 Opinion III is focused on answering the following questions on SynBio:

9. The SCENIHR, SCHER, SCCS are asked to review the state of the scientific knowledge
concerning specific risks to the environment and synthesise it following the procedure
and the requirements mentioned in the Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity
and include the synthesis in its Opinion.

#### 31 Impacts on biological diversity and conservation

The SCs analysed how key areas of application of SynBio may affect, either in a positive or in a negative way, the objectives of the CBD. They further analysed impacts on the Aichi Biodiversity Targets for the 2011-2020 period. The following synthesis concentrates on potential negative impacts on biodiversity and conservation:

- The increased demand for specific feedstock might have negative impacts on
   biodiversity and conservation, e.g., through increased extraction of biomass from
   agricultural land resulting in decreased soil fertility or through extraction of biomass
   from the natural environment. This may affect Aichi Targets 4 and 15.
- Various applications may lead to accidental release of SynBio organisms into the
   environment and negatively affect biodiversity and conservation.
- The ability of designing and producing improved plant varieties based on genome sequence data could reduce the focus on conserving old land races and the need to

preserve wild relatives, once they are sequenced. Artificial diversity could lead to lack of perceived value of natural biodiversity. This is considered to affect Aichi Targets 1 and 13. Likewise, de-extinction research may have a destabilising effect on conservation, potentially resulting in species loss, due to potentially reduced focus on species and habitat preservation and underlying causes for biodiversity loss support for in situ conservation and existing protected areas might be reduced. This may affect Aichi Targets 1 and 13.

SynBio alternatives for chemical products and industrial processes might not actually
 be more sustainable than traditional products.

#### 10 Specific risks to the environment

Risks to the environment were analysed on the basis of Opinion II, key EU Framework 11 12 projects and pertinent literature. Generic risk factors identified were mostly discussed 13 above in relation to impacts on biodiversity and conservation. These risk factors are 14 related to accidental release, persistence of SynBio organisms designed or environmental 15 release, such organisms becoming invasive or disrupt food webs, transfer of genetic 16 material from vertical gene flow or horizontal gene transfer and potential impacts on 17 biodiversity and ecosystems from "de-extinction". In general, these risks need a more 18 thorough analysis of the probability at which they may occur and the impacts they may 19 have.

Similar to Opinions I and II, the analysis of specific risks to the environment was done
for each of six novel SynBio developments: 1) Genetic part libraries and methods; 2)
Minimal cells and designer chassis; 3) Protocells and artificial cells; 4) Xenobiology: 5)
DNA synthesis and genome editing; and 6) Citizen science. Table 2 shows the pertinent
conclusions.

SynBio development	Specific risk
Genetic parts	Increased frequency of use of uncharacterised components and/or the diversity of biological functions. Interactions of the parts may lead to emergent functions, presenting new challenges in predicting or testing for risks and in the identification of appropriate comparator organisms.
Minimal cells and designer chassis	Risk of endosymbiontic relationship with another organism and eventually the establishment of an organelle. Evolution of large virus from minimal cells.
Protocells	In the future, exposure to autonomous artificial cells surviving in the laboratory and in the environment might be possible. Although protocells are not alive, they can be engineered to intimately interact with living cells and enhance overall system functionality. Thus, novel biological functions may be designed without altering the DNA of these target organisms. The genetic information that controls internal functioning might mutate or be horizontally transferred. Thus, a population of protocells with different genetic information could undergo selection and new protocells may arise.
Xenobiology	New variants based on non-standard biochemical systems may present unknown risks. The degree of risk reduction through the genetic firewall requires characterisation.
DNA synthesis and genome editing	The increased speed of modifications through these technologies might pose challenges to risk assessment, while not in itself

#### 25 **Table 2: Specific risks to the environment**

	creating new risks.
Citizen science	The probability of unintentional harm might increase, because more people are starting to actively work with biological material
	outside of conventional laboratory and institutional settings.

#### 1

#### 2 **Prevention of risks**

3 Risks from SynBio organisms may be prevented wholly or in part by a) Design of less 4 competitive organisms by changing metabolic pathways; b) Replacing metabolic 5 pathways with others that have an in-built dependency on external biochemicals; c) 6 Design of evolutionary robust biological circuits; d) Use of biological systems based on 7 an alternative biochemical structure to avoid e.g., gene flow to and from wild species; e) 8 Design of protocells that lack key features of living entities, such as growth or 9 replication. Currently available safety locks used in genetic engineering such as genetic 10 safeguards (e.g., auxotrophy and kill switches) are not yet sufficiently reliable for 11 SynBio. Genetic firewalls may improve containment compared with classical genetic 12 engineering. However, no single technology reliably manages all biosafety risks and new 13 approaches and combinations of existing and upcoming new strategies will be necessary 14 including new forms of biocontainment and additional layers of containment using 15 orthogonal systems.

#### 16 *Mitigation of risks*

17 Mitigation is defined by the SCs as risk reduction measures taken after deliberate or 18 accidental release of SynBio organisms, components or products and when all 19 biocontainment processes, safety locks and other preventive measures have failed. 20 Organisms, resulting from SynBio techniques or not, may not be retrieved once released. 21 Given the difficulties in preventing a biological incident of any type, the main goal of 22 contingency management should be to avoid and/or mitigate an event. In specific and 23 high-risk cases, a prepared, efficient and proportional international response may limit 24 the size and scope of such releases as well as the implementation of WHO IHR 25 standards, including the prior assessment of the necessity for international notification.

26 10. What are the major gaps in knowledge to be filled for performing a reliable risk27 assessment in the areas of concern?

The SCs addressed five SynBio research areas and citizen science to shed light on gaps of knowledge necessary to perform a reliable risk assessment for human health and the

30 environment currently present in SynBio. Table 3 shows the conclusions.

#### 31 **Table 3: Gaps in knowledge**

SynBio development	Gap
Genetic parts	<ul> <li>Tools for predicting emergent properties of complex biological systems may not be sufficiently accurate or may not be available to risk assessors</li> <li>The methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information to risk assessors is yet unstandardised across EU member states and internationally and are largely natural language submissions. Such practices could limit the sophistication of quantitative analyses, data evaluation, efficiency and effectiveness of risk assessment.</li> </ul>

Minimal cells and	How to define and engineer biological robustness with the aim to
designer chassis	move closer to neutral or even zero evolution.
Protocells	<ul> <li>There is little to no information about the behaviour, impact and evolutionary ramifications of interactions of systems consisting of organisms and chemical non-living systems.</li> <li>Unknown hazardous properties of future autonomous, replicating chemical systems, including, allergenicity, pathogenicity, biological stability.</li> <li>Lack of knowledge on behaviour of "natural protocells" i.e. lipid vesicles produced by bacteria and loaded with peptides, RNA, DNA, which may be a comparator to synthetic protocells.</li> </ul>
Xenobiology	<ul> <li>Unknown effects of non-standard biochemical molecules/systems, e.g., XNA, alternative base pairs, etc., in living cells.</li> <li>Unknown potential toxicity and allergenicity of novel xenobiological compounds.</li> <li>Lack of data supporting risk assessment such as change in evolutionary fitness, ecological competitiveness, degree of horizontal gene flow, susceptibility to viruses, diseases or predation.</li> <li>Lack of a clear and reliable <i>metric</i> to measure the escape frequency of different types of semantic containment (e.g., the use of different genetic codes, or alternative biochemistries of key informational biopolymers such as nucleic acids or amino acids).</li> <li>Insufficient mechanistic understanding of underlying principles of semantic containment, to allow for a reliable prediction of the strength of semantic containment strategies is missing.</li> </ul>
DNA synthesis and genome editing	The increased speed of modifications might pose challenges to risk assessment mainly because administrative procedures might
	not be able to cope with a large number of rapidly created engineered organisms.
Citizen science	Knowledge gap whether citizen scientists reliably comply with the established biosafety rules.

SCENIHR, SCHER, and SCCS are requested to provide research recommendations
 on the main scientific gaps identified The recommendations should also include
 methodological guidance on the experimental design and on the requirements of the
 proposals, in order to ensure data quality and comparability, as well as the usability of
 the results for risk assessment.

6 The SCs previously recommended risk assessment related research in Opinion II:

7 • Support research that

8

9

10

- Characterises the function of biological parts
- Develops computational tools to predict emergent properties of SynBio organisms and their potential failure modes
- Broadly disseminates knowledge and trains scientists.
- Streamline and standardise the methods for submitting genetic modification data and
   genetic parts information across EU member states to risk assessors, which should
   be transparent and available to all stakeholders.
- Encourage the use of GMOs with proven safety records as acceptable comparators for risk assessment, i.e. the baseline state of safe organisms can advance with the complexity of new modifications. Reliance solely on non-GMO organisms, as opposed to GMOs with a history of safe use would prevent the advance of baseline risk

assessment controls. In contrast, use of GMOs with a record of safety may better
 reflect the current understanding of risks.

- Support additional research and debate towards the development of sufficiently sophisticated risk assessment tools to match the advances in technology assessed, to avoid an imbalance between risk assessment and technology that might negatively impact economic and health benefits of the technology and jeopardise the quality of safety protections.
- Support a Biosafety clearinghouse on bioparts, devices and systems to support risk
   assessment of genetic circuits generated with biological parts, devices and systems.
- The SCs suggest sharing relevant information about specific parts, devices and
   systems with risk assessment practitioners.

12 The following research recommendations for the improvement of risk assessment follow 13 from the gaps identified for each of the six novel SynBio developments:

#### 14 General recommendations

15 Research on standardised techniques to monitor biocontainment and survival in 16 environments outside the bioreactor and to generate comparative data for use in 17 quantitative biocontainment assessment. Additional research is required to establish the 18 best ways of dealing with the trade-off that, whilst adding biosafety modules might make 19 the chassis less fit, increasing fitness in the bioreactor might also increase environmental 20 fitness. Further work is also required on how to design synthetic constructs and microbes 21 that will be intentionally out-competed over time. For this research to progress, more 22 quantitative data are needed for how GMOs perform in sample environments.

#### 23 Genetic parts

25

30

- 24 Support research
  - To characterise the interactions between modified and native parts
- To develop computational tools to predict emergent properties of SynBio
   organisms and their potential failure modes, including biological prediction
   tools that explicitly incorporate the uncertainty of molecular and genetic
   information
  - Broad dissemination and training in such tools and knowledge resources
- Research approaches to streamline and standardise the methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts information, including systems biology models, to risk assessors across EU member states. Ideally, such information should be submitted in computable form to facilitate transparency with all stakeholders involved in the risk assessment process, and to enable the application of the aforementioned prediction tools, including systems biology models.
- Develop brief guidelines for risk assessors on how to evaluate potential emergent
   properties of genetically engineered systems.
- Research the use of GMOs with a proven safety record as acceptable comparators for risk assessment such that the baseline state of safe organisms can advance in step with the complexity of new modifications. Reliance solely on non-GMO organisms, as opposed to GM organisms with a history of safe use, would prevent the advance of baseline risk assessment controls. On the other hand, use of GM organisms with a record of safety may better reflect the current understanding of risks.

#### 1 Minimal cells and designer chassis

- Research the introduction of biosafety of modules at the design stage. There is a need to develop tools for reliable prediction of emergent safety issues at the systems level. The natural extension of this is the design and testing of biological chassis for safety and sustainability, with attention to limiting chassis survivability and genetic exchange on release.
- There is a need to engineer chassis organisms and their genetic payloads for reduced rates of evolution (increased genetic robustness), while at the same time ensuring their fragility upon accidental release (decreased environmental robustness). Further fundamental research on quantifying and qualifying the evolutionary change of phenotypes through time is required to understand and predict how these two demands can be satisfied at the same time.

#### 13 **Protocells**

- More information is needed to assess the implications, as well as the environmental and evolutionary consequences of a collaborative interaction between non-living protocells and living organisms, including the host range and the specificity of collaborative interactions between protocells and natural cells.
- If protocells become life-like entities, methods should be developed to assess their
   risk e.g., allergenicity, pathogenicity, biological stability, etc. in the absence of
   biological counterparts. Regulatory consequences should be investigated as well.
- More research is necessary to learn more about the ecological and evolutionary role
   of natural vesicles containing peptides, RNA and DNA.

#### 23 Xenobiology

- Even when each individual chemical class of xeno-compounds (e.g., HNA, GNA)
   initially is characterised and tested comprehensively (e.g., for toxicity and allergenicity), a risk assessment is needed for emergent properties. In the future, in
   case of a proven safety record of particular classes of xeno-compounds, applications of such classes should be tested similarly to classical DNA modifications, namely
   based on a case-by-case assessment of the modified genetic information only.
- Establish a methodology to quantitatively and qualitatively characterise xenobiology
   organisms with respect to evolutionary fitness, ecological competitiveness, degree of
   horizontal gene flow, susceptibility to viruses, diseases or predation.
- Develop a clear and reliable *metric* to measure the escape frequency of different types of semantic containment. Improve and standardise testing platforms for existing metrics for assessing the escape frequency well beyond rates of 10<sup>-11</sup>, based on typical cell densities and fermenter sizes, in laboratory conditions and potential (unintended) target environments (soil, blood, water, etc.).
- Improve the mechanistic understanding of underlying principles of semantic containment, to allow for a reliable prediction of the strength of semantic containment strategies. Further develop xenobiology-based biocontainment systems such as genetic firewalls using the metrics and standardised testing platforms mentioned above.

#### 43 **DNA synthesis and genome editing**

44 The reader is referred to the recommendations under `genetic parts' and `minimal cells 45 and designer chassis'.

#### 1 Citizen science

The SCs recommend the development of strategies on how to increase the awareness and compliance of citizen scientists with national biosafety rules and codes of ethics including collaboration with acknowledged institutions and training. Existing tools, like the "ask a biosafety officer" approach should be further promoted and possible new ones added.

#### 7 Additional research recommendations

8 Additional research recommendations for the improvement of risk assessment can be
9 identified from the section on impacts on biodiversity and conservation and specific risks
10 to the environment:

- Research on impacts from accidental or intentional introduction of SynBio organisms
   into the environment with emphasis on:
- 13

14

15

- Effects on habitats, food webs and biodiversity,
- The difference in physiology of natural and synthetic organisms,
- Vertical or horizontal gene flow,
  - Survival, persistence, ecological fitness and rate of evolutionary change.
- Research on the impacts from "de-extinction" and the debate around it.
- Research on the containment strategies to prevent unintentional release of or exposure to organisms resulting from SynBio techniques. The SCs recommend exploring a clear strategy for the analysis, development, testing and prototyping of applications based on new forms of biocontainment and additional layers of containment using orthogonal systems. Barriers can be physical, biological or semantic.
- The environmental performance of SynBio processes and products should remain a research focus considering the full product life cycle. The development of a flexible assessment methodology is needed in which criteria for human and environmental health, safety and sustainability can be selected.
- 28 An emerging technology that uses similar techniques to the ones that are commonly 29 applied in genome editing for SynBio applications are the so-called "gene drives". 30 However, for the purposes of this Opinion, gene drives are not considered as falling 31 under the definition of SynBio. While the methods used are related, gene drives aim 32 at modifying the genetic composition of populations, not of individual organisms; an analysis of the risks and implications of "gene drives" is therefore outside the scope 33 34 of this Opinion. Nevertheless, the increasing use of gene drive technology would 35 certainly require a similar in-depth analysis, including a detailed assessment of its 36 implications for risk assessment methodology and its potential impact on biodiversity 37 and the environment.
- 38 Prioritisation of impact assessments can be based on prior knowledge available.

#### 1 5. MINORITY OPINION

2 None.

### 16. CONSIDERATION OF THE RESPONSES RECEIVED DURING THE2CONSULTATION PROCESS

- 3 A public consultation on this Opinion was opened on the website of the non-food 4 scientific committees between 16 July 2015 and 16 September 2015.
- 12 organisations and individuals (contributing 61 comments in total) participated in the
  public consultation providing input to different chapters and subchapters of the Opinion.
  Among the organisations participating in the consultation were universities, institutes of
- 8 public health, NGOs and public authorities.
- 9 Each contribution was carefully considered by the Scientific Committees and the scientific10 Opinion has been revised to take account of relevant comments.
- 11 The text of the comments received and the response provided by the Scientific
- 12 Committees is available here:13
- 14 <u>http://ec.europa.eu/health/scientific\_committees/consultations/public\_consultations/sce</u>
- 15 <u>nihr consultation 28 en.htm</u>

#### 1 7. ABBREVIATIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS

2 • Biosafety level (BSL)

- 3 Convention of Biodiversity (CBD)
- Cartagena Protocol on Biodiversity (CPB)
- 5 Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Repeats (CRISPR)
  - Decision XI/11 of the Convention of Biodiversity (COP Decision XI/11)
- 7 De-extinction (Bringing extinct species back to life)
- 8 European Centre for Disease prevention and Control (ECDC)
- 9 European Chemicals Agency (ECHA)
- 10 European Commission (EC)
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)
- 12 European Medicines Agency (EMA)
- 13 European Union (EU)
- Genetically modified microorganisms (GMM)
- Genetically modified organisms (GMOs)
- Horizontal gene transfer (HGT, transfer of genes between organisms independent of sexual or asexual reproduction)
- 18 International Genetically Engineered Machine (iGEM)
- 19 International Health Regulations (IHR)
- 20 Living Modified Organisms (LMOs)
- Multiplex Automated Genome Engineering (MAGE)
- Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST)
- Nagoya Protocol (NP)
- National Institutes of health (NIH)
- Natural Language (human language, in contrast to computer language)
- New plant breeding techniques (NPBTs)
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
- 28 Scientific Committee (SC)
- 29 Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS)
- Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks (SCHER)
- Semantic containment (Use of biocontainment systems through the implementation
   of genetic language which is not compatible with natural biological systems)
- Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA)
- Synthetic Biology (SynBio)
- Transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs)
- United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)
- Vertical gene transfer (Transmission of genes from the parental generation to
   offspring via sexual or asexual reproduction)
- 39 Xeno Nucleic Acids (XNA)
- World Health Organisation (WHO)

<sup>41</sup> 

#### 1 8. REFERENCES

- Allendorf, F.W., Hohenlohe P.A., Luikart, G. (2010). Genomics and the future of
  conservation genetics. Nature Review Genetics 11, 697-709.
- 4 Anderson, J., Strelkowa, N., Stan G.-B., Douglas, T., Savulescu, J., Barahona M.,
- 5 Papachristodoulou, A. (2012). Engineering and ethical perspectives in synthetic biology.
  6 EMBO Reports 13(7), 584-590.
- Bedau, M.A., Parke, E.C., Tangen, U., Hantsche-Tangen, B. (2009). Social and ethical
  checkpoints for bottom-up synthetic biology, or protocells. Syst Synth Biol 3, 65-75.
- 9 Biller, S.J., Schubotz, F., Roggensack, S.E., Thompson, A.W., Summons, R.E., Chisholm 10 S.W. (2014). Bacterial Vesicles in Marine Ecosystems. Science 10, 343 (6167), 183-186.
- Bokinsky, G., Peralta-Yahya, P.P, George, A., Holmes, B.M., Steen, E.J., Dietrich, J.,
- 12 Lee, T.S., Tullman-Ercek, D., Voigt, C.A., Simmons B.A., Keasling J.D. (2011). Synthesis
- 13 of three advanced biofuels from ionic liquid-pretreated switchgrass using engineered
- 14 Escherichia coli. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108, 19949-19954.
- Bomgardner, M.M. (2012). Biobased chemicals without biomass. Chemical & EngineeringNews 90, 25.
- 17 Brand, S. (2013). Opinion: The Case for Reviving Extinct Species. National Geographic:
- 18 Daily News. http://news.nationalgeographic.com/news/2013/03/130311-deextinction-
- 19 reviving-extinct-species-opinion-animals-science/
- Breitling, R, Achcar, F., Takano, E. (2013). Modeling challenges in the synthetic biology
  of secondary metabolism. ACS Synth Biol. 2(7), 373-378.
- CBD (2015a). Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Synthetic biology,
   Montreal, Technical Series No. 82, 118 pages.
- 24 CBD (2015b). Report of the Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Synthetic Biology.
- Convention of Biodiversity, UNEP/CBD/SYNBIO/AHTEG/2015/1/3, Montreal, Canada, 2125 September 2015.
- Church, G.M, Elowitz, M.B, Smolke, C.D, Voigt, C.A, Weiss, R. (2014). Realizing the
  potential of synthetic biology Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. Apr; 15(4), 289-94.
- Claverie, J.-M., Ogata H., Audic S., Abergel C., Suhre K., Fournier P.E. (2006). Mimivirus
  and the emerging concept of 'giant' virus. Virus Research 117 (1), 133–144.
- Dana, G.V., Kuiken, T., Rejeski, D., Snow, A.A. (2012). Synthetic biology: four steps to avoid a synthetic biology disaster. Nature 483, 29.
- Danchin, A. (2009). Information of the chassis and information of the program in
  synthetic cells. Systems and synthetic biology 3, 125-134.
- Danchin, A. (2012). Scaling up synthetic biology: Do not forget the chassis. FEBS letters586, 2129-2137.
- 37 De Lorenzo, V., (2010). Environmental biosafety in the age of synthetic biology: do we 38 really need a radical new approach? Environmental fates of microorganisms bearing

- 1 synthetic genomes could be predicted from previous data on traditionally engineered
- 2 bacteria for in situ bioremediation. Bioessays. Nov; 32(11), 926-31.
- 3 Donlan, J. C. (2014). Opinion De-extinction in a crisis discipline. Frontiers of
- 4 biogeography, 6, 25-28.
- 5 Dunlop, P.S.M., Ciavola, M., Rizzo, L., McDowell, D.A., Byrne, J.A. (2015). Effect of
- 6 photocatalysis on the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in urban wastewater.
   7 Catalysis Today 240, 55-60
- 7 Catalysis Today 240, 55-60.
- 8 EC (2000). Communication from the Commission on the precautionary principle.
- 9 COM(2000)1, 02.02.2000. Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, Belgium.
- EEA (2001) Late lessons from early warnings: the precautionary principle 1896-2000.
  Environmental issue report 22, European Environmental Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- 12 EFSA (2011). Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms (GMO). Scientific Opinion on
- 13 Guidance for risk assessment of food and feed from genetically modified plants. EFSA 14 Journal 2011; 9(5), 2150.
- EGE (2009). Ethics of Synthetic Biology. European group on ethics in science and newtechnologies in the European Commission. Opinion No. 25. Brussels.
- Ehrenfeld, D. (2013). Extinction Reversal? Don't Count on It. Webcast from TedXDeExtinction event. Available at: http://new.livestream.com/tedx/DeExtinction.
- 19 Ehrlich, P. H. (2014). Counterpoint: The Case Against De-Extinction: It's a Fascinating20 but Dumb Idea. Yale Environment 360.
- Elowitz, M.B., Leibler, S. (2000) A Synthetic Oscillatory Network of Transcriptional
  Regulators. Nature. 403, 335-338.
- 23 Endy, D. (2005). Foundations for engineering biology. Nature. 438, 449-453.
- 24 ERASynBio (2014). Next steps for European synthetic biology: a strategic vision from
- 25 ERASynBio. European Research Area Network for the development and coordination of26 synthetic biology in Europe.
- 27 Erickson, B., Singh, R., Winters, P. (2011). Synthetic Biology: Regulating Industry Uses28 of New Biotechnologies. Science 333, 1254-1256.
- Erickson, B., Nelson, J.E., Winters, P. (2012). Perspective on opportunities in industrial
  biotechnology in renewable chemicals. Biotechnology Journal 7, 176–185.
- 31 ETC (2010). The New Biomassters: Synthetic Biology and the Next Assault on
- Biodiversity and Livelihoods. Montreal: Action Group on Erosion, Technology andConcentration.
- 34 ETC (2013). Synthetic Biology: the Bioeconomy of Landlessness and Hunger. Action
- 35 Group on Erosion, Technology and Concentration. Available at:
- 36 http://www.cbd.int/doc/emerging-issues/emergingissues-2013-07-ETCGroup%282%29-
- 37 en.pdf.

- 1 Fischhoff, B., Slovic, P, Lichtenstein, S., Read, S., Combs, B. (1978). How safe is safe
- 2 enough? A psychometric study of attitudes towards technological risks and benefits.
- 3 Policy Sciences 9, 127-152.
- Fixen, P. E. (2007). Potential Biofuels Influence on Nutrient Use and Removal in the U.S.
  Better Crops 91(2), 12-14.
- 6 FOE (Friends of the Earth) (2010). Synthetic Solutions to the Climate Crisis: The
- 7 Dangers of Synthetic Biology for Biofuels Production.
- 8 http://libcloud.s3.amazonaws.com/93/59/9/529/1/SynBio-Biofuels\_Report\_Web.pdf
- 9 FOE (Friends of the Earth) U.S., International Center for Technology Assessment, ETC
- 10 Group (2012). Principles for the Oversight of Synthetic Biology.
- 11 http://libcloud.s3.amazonaws.com/93/ae/9/2287/2/Principles\_for\_the\_oversight\_of\_syn
- 12 thetic\_biology.pdf
- Forster, A.C., Church, G.M. (2006). Towards synthesis of a minimal cell. MolecularSystems Biology 2, 45.
- 15 French, C. E., de Mora, K., Joshi, N., Elfick, E., Haseloff, J., Ajioka, J. (2011). Synthetic
- 16 biology and the art of biosensor design. In the Science and Applications of Synthetic and
- 17 Systems Biology: Workshop Summary. Institute of Medicine (US) Forum on Microbial
- 18 Threats. Washington DC: National Academics Press.
- Gallagher, R.R., Li, Z., Lewis, A.O., Isaacs, F.J. (2014). Rapid editing and evolution of
  bacterial genomes using libraries of synthetic DNA. Nat Protoc. 9(10):2301-2316.
- Gantz, V.M., Bier, E. (2015) The mutagenic chain reaction: A method for converting
  heterozygous to homozygous mutations. Science 348 (6233): 442-444.
- Garfinkel, M.S., Endy, D., Epstein, G.L, Friedman, R.M. (2007). Synthetic genomics,
  Options for Governance. J. Craig Venter Institute.
- 25 Garfinkel, M.S., Friedman, R.M. (2010). Synthetic biology and synthetic genomics. In
- Future of International Environmental Law, edited by David Leary and BalakrishnaPisupati, New York: UNU Press, 269-291.
- Georgianna, D.R., Mayfield, S.P. (2012). Exploiting diversity and synthetic biology for
  the production of algal biofuels, NatureVolume:488,Pages:329–335.
- 30 Gressel J., van der Vlugt, C.J.B., Bergmans, H.E.N. (2013). Environmental risks of large 31 scale cultivation of microalgae: mitigation of spills. Algal Res 2, 286-298.
- Gronvall, G.K. (2015). Mitigating the Risks of Synthetic Biology. US Council on Foreign
  Relations, Center for Preventive Action.
- 34 Grushkin, D., Kuiken, T., Millet, P. (2013). 7 Myths and Realities of Do-It-Yourself
- 35 Biology. http://www.SynBioproject.org/process/
- 36 assets/files/6673/\_draft/7\_myths\_final.pdf
- 37 Guet, C.C., Elowitz, M.B., Hsing, W., Leibler, S. (2002). Combinatorial synthesis of
- 38 genetic networks. Science 296, 1466-1470.

- 1 Guo, J., Wang, S., Wang, Z., Peng, Y. (2014). Effects of feeding pattern and dissolved
- 2 oxygen concentration on microbial morphology and community structure: The
- 3 competition between floc-forming bacteria and filamentous bacteria. Journal of Water
- 4 Process Engineering 1, 108–114.
- 5 Hermann, B.G., Blok, K., Patel, M.K. (2007). Producing bio-based bulk chemicals using
- 6 industrial biotechnology saves energy and combats climate change. Environmental
  7 Science and Technology 41, 7915–7921.
- 8 IRGC (2008). An introduction to the IRGC risk governance framework. International Risk9 Governance Council, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 10 IRGC (2010). Guidelines for the appropriate risks governance of Synthetic Biology.
- 11 International Risk Governance Council, Geneva, Switzerland, ISBN 978-2-9700672-6-9.
- Jewett, M.C., Forster, A.C. (2010). Update on designing and building minimal cells.
  Current Opinion in Biotechnology 21, 697–703.
- Juhas, M., Eberl, L. Church, G.M. (2012). Essential genes as antimicrobial targets and
   cornerstones of synthetic biology. Trends in Biotechnology 30, 601-607.
- 16 Kang, Z., Zhang, J., Jin, P., Yang, S. (2015) Directed evolution combined with synthetic
- 17 biology strategies expedite semi-rational engineering of genes and genomes.
- 18 Bioengineered. 6(3):136-140.
- 19 Kirby, J. R. (2010). Designer bacteria degrades toxin. Nature Chemical Biology 6: 398-20 399.
- 21 Kitano, H. (2007). Towards a theory of biological robustness. Mol Syst Biol., 137.
- König, H., Frank, D., Heil, R., Coenen, C. (2013). Synthetic Genomics and Synthetic
  Biology Applications Between Hopes and Concerns. Current Genomics 14, 11-24.
- La Scola, B., Audic, S., Robert, C., Jungang, L., de Lamballerie, X., Drancourt, M.,
  Birtles, R., Claverie, J.M., Raoult, D. (2003). "A giant virus in amoebae". Science 299
  (5615), 2033.
- 27 Lentini, R., Perez Santero, S., Chizzolini, F., Cecchi, D., Fontana, J., Marchioretto, M.,
- 28 Del Bianco, C., Terrell, J.L., Spencer, A.C., Martini, L., Forlin, M., Assfalg, M., Dalla
- 29 Serra, M., Bentley, W.E., Mansy, S.S. (2014). Integrating artificial with natural cells to
- translate chemical messages that direct E. coli behaviour. Nature Communications, 5,4012.
- 32 Luddeke, F., Heß, S., Gallert, C., Winter, J., Gude, H., Loffler, H. (2015). Removal of
- 33 total and antibiotic resistant bacteria in advanced wastewater treatment by ozonation in
- combination with different filtering techniques. Water Research 69, 243-251.
- 35 Mandell, D.J., Lajoie, M.J., Mee, M.T., Takeuchi, R., Kuznetsov, G., Norville, J.E., Gregg,
- 36 C.J., Stoddard, B.L., Church G.M. (2015). Biocontainment of genetically modified
- organisms by synthetic protein design. Nature 518, 55–60.
- Marlière, P. (2009) The farther, the safer: a manifesto for securely navigating synthetic species away from the old living world. Syst Synth Biol 3, 77-84.

- 1 McFadden, G.I. (2001). Primary and secondary endosymbiosis and the origin of plastids.
- 2 J Phycology 37 (6), 951–9.
- Moe-Behrens, G.H.G., Davis, R., Haynes, K.A. (2013). Preparing synthetic biology for the world. Frontiers in Microbiology 4, 1-10.
- 5 Ochoa de Alda, J.A.G., Esteban, R., Diago, M.L., Houmard, J. (2014). The plastid
- 6 ancestor originated among one of the major cyanobacterial lineages. Nature
- 7 Communications 5, Article number: 4937.
- 8 Okamoto, N., Inouye, I. (2005). A Secondary Symbiosis in Progress? Science 310, 287.
- 9 Oye, K.A., Esvelt, K., Appleton, E., Cateruccia, F., Church, G., Kulken, T., Lightfoot Bar-
- 10 Yam, S., McNamara, J. Smidler, A., Collins, J.P. (2014). Regulating gene drives. Science
- 11 345(6197): 626-628.
- 12 Pauwels, K., Mampuys, R., Golstein, C., Breyer, D., Herman, P., Kaspari, M., Pagès, J.C.,
- 13 Pfister, H., van der Wilk, F., Schönig, B. (2013) Event report: SynBio Workshop (Paris
- 14 2012) Risk assessment challenges of Synthetic Biology. Journal für Verbraucherschutz
- 15 und Lebensmittelsicherheit 8(3), 215-226.
- 16 Pauwels, K., Willemarck, N., Breyer, D., Herman, P. (2012). Synthetic Biology: Latest
- 17 developments, biosafety considerations and regulatory challenges. Biosafety and
- 18 Biotechnology Unit (Belgium).
- 19 http://www.biosafety.be/PDF/120911\_Doc\_Synbio\_SBB\_FINAL.pdf
- 20 Pinheiro, V.B., Taylor, A.I., Cozens, C., Abramov, M., Renders, M., Zhang, S., Chaput,
- 21 J.C., Wengel, J., Peak-Chew, S-Y., McLaughlin, S.H., Herdewijn, P., Holliger, P. (2012).
- 22 Synthetic genetic polymers capable of heredity and evolution. Science 336, 341-344.
- 23 Posfai, G., Plunkett, G., Fehér, T., Frisch, D., Keil, G.M., Umenhoffer, K., Kolisnychenko,
- V., Stahl, B., Sharma, S.S., de Arruda, M., Burland, V., Harcum, S.W., Blattner, F.R.,
- (2006). Emergent properties of reduced-genome Escherichia coli. Science 312, 1044-1046.
- 27 Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical Issues (2010). New directions: The
- 28 ethics of synthetic biology and emerging technologies. Washington DC.
- 29 http://bioethics.gov/sites/default/files/PCSBI-Synthetic-Biology-Report-12.16.10\_0.pdf
- 30 Raman, S., Rogers, J.K., Taylor, N.D., Church, G.M. (2014). Evolution-guided
- optimization of biosynthetic pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences
- 32 111, 17803–17808.
- Ramos, J-L., Marqués, S., van Dillewijn, P., Espinosa-Urgel, M., Segura, A., Duque, E.,
- 34 Krell, T., Ramos-González, M.-I., Bursakov, S., Roca, A., Solano, J., Fernádez, M., Niqui,
- 35 J.L., Pizarro-Tobias, P., Wittich R.-M. (2011). Laboratory research aimed at closing the
- 36 gaps in microbial bioremediation. Trends in Biotechnology 29, 641–647.
- 37 Raoult, D. Audic, S., Robert, C., Abergel, C., Renesto, P., Ogata, H., La Scola, B.,
- 38 Suzan, M., Claverie, J.M. (2004). The 1.2-megabase genome sequence of Mimivirus.
- 39 Science 306, 1344–1350.

- Redford, K.H., Adams, W., Mace, G.M. (2013). Synthetic Biology and the Conservation of
   Nature: Wicked Problems and Wicked Solutions. PLoS Biology 11(4), 1-4.
- 3 Reijnders, M.J.M.F, van Heck, R.G.A., Lam, C.M.C., Scaife, M.A., Martins dos Santos,
- 4 V.A.P., Smith, A.G., Schaap, P.J. (2014). Green genes: bioinformatics and systems-
- 5 biology innovations drive algal biotechnology. Trends in Biotechnology 32, 617-626.
- Renn, O., Klinke, A., van Asselt, M. (2011). Coping with Complexity, Uncertainty and
  Ambiguity in Risk Governance: A Synthesis. Ambio 40, 231-246.
- 8 Rovner, A.J., Haimovich, A.D., Katz, S.R., Li, Z., Grome, M.W., Gassaway, B.M., Amiram,
- 9 M., Patel, J.R., Gallagher, R.R., Rinehart, J., Isaacs, F.J. (2015). Recoded organisms
- 10 engineered to depend on synthetic amino acids. Nature 518 (7537): 89–93.Sander, J.D.,
- Joung, J.K (2014). CRISPR-Cas systems for editing, regulating and targeting genomes.
- 12 Nat Biotechnol. 32(4):347-355.
- 13 Saygin, D., Gielen, D.J., Draeck, M., Worrell, E., Patel, M.K. (2014). Assessment of the
- 14 technical and economic potentials of biomass use for the production of steam, chemicals
- and polymers. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 40, 1153–1167.
- 16 SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks) (2012).
- 17 Memorandum on the use of the scientific literature for human health risk assessment
- 18 purposes weighing of evidence and expression of uncertainty, 19 March, 2012.
- 19 SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks), SCCS
- 20 (Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety), SCHER (Scientific Committee on Health and
- 21 Environmental Risks)(2014), Synthetic Biology I Definition, Opinion, 25 September,
- 22 2014.
- 23 SCENIHR (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks), SCHER
- 24 (Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks), SCCS (Scientific Committee
- 25 on Consumer Safety)(2015), Synthetic Biology II Risk assessment methodologies and
- 26 safety aspects, Opinion, May 2015.
- 27 SCHER (Scientific Committee on Health and Environmental Risks), SCENIHR (Scientific
- 28 Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks), SCCS (Scientific Committee
- on Consumer Safety) (2014). Synthetic Biology I Definition, Opinion, 25 September,
  2014.
- Schmidt, M. (2009). Do I understand what I can create? Biosafety issues in synthetic
  biology. Chapter 6 in: Schmidt M. Kelle A. Ganguli A, de Vriend H. (Eds.) 2009. Synthetic
  Biology. The Technoscience and its Societal Consequences. Springer Academic Publishing
  (104, 2009)
- 34 (July 2009).
- Schmidt, M. (ed.) (2012). Synthetic Biology: Industrial and Environmental Applications.Wiley-VCH.
- Schmidt, M. (2008). Diffusion of synthetic biology: a challenge to biosafety. Systems andsynthetic biology 2, 1-6.
- 39 Schmidt, M., de Lorenzo, V. (2012). Synthetic constructs in/for the environment:
- 40 Managing the interplay between natural and engineered biology. FEBS Letters 586,
- 41 2199-2206.

- 1 Schmidt, M., Ganguli-Mitra, A., Torgersen, H., Kelle, A., Deplazes, A., Biller-Andorno, N.
- 2 (2009). A priority paper for the societal and ethical aspects of synthetic biology. Syst
- 3 Synth Biol 3, 3-7.
- Schmidt, M., Kelle, A., Ganguli-Mitra, A., de Vriend, H. (eds.) (2009). Synthetic Biology:
  the technoscience and its societal consequences. Springer. ISBN 978-90-481-2677-4.
- Schrempf, H., Koebsch, I., Walter, S., Engelhardt, H., Meschke, H. (2011). Extracellular
  Streptomyces vesicles: amphorae for survival and defence. Microb. Biotechnol., 4, 286–
  299.
- 9 Seddon, P.J. Griffiths, C.J., Soorae, P.S., Armstrong, D.P. (2014). Reversing
- 10 defaunation: Restoring species in a changing world. Science 345, 406 -412.

Seyfried, G, Pei L, Schmidt M. (2014). European Do-it-yourself (DIY) Biology: beyond
the hope, hype and horror. BioEssays 36(6).

- Snow, A.A., Smith V.H. (2012). Genetically Engineered Algae for Biofuels: A Key Role forEcologists. BioScience 62(8), 765-768.
- 15 SynBERC (2009). SynBERC Policies on Safety, Security and Sustainability: Four
- 16 Principles as Guides to Practice. http://anthropos-
- 17 lab.net/sites/default/files/resfiles/Draft%20-%20SynBERC%20Policies%20on%20Safety-18 april10.pdf
- 19 Temple, S. (2013). De-extinction: A Game-changer for Conservation Biology. Webcast
- 20 from TedX DeExtinction event. Available at:
- 21 http://new.livestream.com/tedx/DeExtinction.

Tetz, V.V., Rybalchenko, O.V., Savkova, G.A. (1993). Ultrastructure of the surface film
of bacterial colonies. J Gen Microbiol.139(4), 855-858.

- 24 UK SynBio Roadmap Coordination Group (2012). http://www.rcuk.ac.uk/RCUK-
- 25 prod/assets/documents/publications/SyntheticBiologyRoadmap.pdf
- 26 Unnithan, V.V., Unc, A., Smith, G.B. (2014). Mini-review: A priori considerations for
- 27 bacteria–algae interactions in algal biofuel systems receiving municipal wastewaters.
- Algal Research 4, 35–40.
- 29 US DoE (2004). Volume I: Results of Screening for Potential Candidates from Sugars and
- 30 Synthesis Gas. US Department of Energy Office of Science and Office of Energy
- 31 Efficiency and Renewable Energy.
- 32 http://www1.eere.energy.gov/bioenergy/pdfs/35523.pdf
- 33 US DoE (2006). Breaking the biological barriers to cellulosic ethanol: a joint research
- agenda. DOE/SC-0095. US Department of Energy Office of Science and Office of Energy
   Efficiency and Renewable Energy. (www.doegenomestolife.org/biofuels/).
- Van Asselt, M.B.A., Renn, O. (2011). Risk governance. Journal of Risk Research 14, 431-449.
- van Hal, J.W., Huijgen, W.J.J., López-Contreras, A.M. (2014). Opportunities and
- challenges for seaweed in the biobased economy. Trends in Biotechnology 32, 231-233.

- Webb, A., Coates D. (2012). Biofuels and Biodiversity. Secretariat of the Convention on
   Biological Diversity. Montreal, Technical Series No. 65, 69 pages.
- Weber, W., Fussenegger M. (2012). Emerging biomedical applications of synthetic
  biology. Nature Reviews Genetics 13, 21-35.
- 5 Weiss, M., Haufe, J., Carus, M., Brandão, M., Bringezu, S., Hermann, B., Patel, M.K.
- 6 (2012). A review of the environmental impacts of bio-based materials. Journal of
- 7 Industrial Ecology 16 (Suppl. S1), S169–S181.
- 8 WHO (2005) International Health Regulations, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Geneva, Switzrland. ISBN
  9 978924 158041 0.
- Wright, O, Stan, G.-B. and Ellis, T. (2013). Building-in biosafety for synthetic biology.
  Microbiology 159, 1221–1235.
- 12 You, E.H. (2010). FBI Perspective: Addressing Synthetic Biology and Biosecurity. Paper
- presented at the First Meeting of the Presidential Commission for the Study of Bioethical
   Issues on Synthetic Biology, Washington DC.
- Zakeri, B., Carr, P.A. (2015). The limits of synthetic biology. Trends in Biotechnology 33,57-58.
- 17 Zetsche, B, Gootenberg, J.S., Abudayyeh, O.O., Slaymaker, I.M., Makarova, K.S.,
- 18 Essletzbichler, P., Volz, S.E., Joung, J., van der Oost, J., Regev, A., Koonin, E.V., Zhang,
- 19 F. (2015). Cpf1 Is a Single RNA-Guided Endonuclease of a Class 2 CRISPR-Cas System.
- 20 Cell. 163(3):759-771.

#### 1 **9. ANNEXES**

#### 2 9.1. Annex I Questions from the mandate

3 Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) in 4 association with Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS), Scientific Committee 5 on Health and Environmental Risks (SCHER), request for a joint scientific opinion on 6 SynBio.

#### 7 Scope and definition of the phrase "SynBio"

- 8 1. What is SynBio and what is its relationship to the genetic modification of organisms?
- 9 2. Based on current knowledge about scientific, technical, and commercial
  10 developments, what are the essential requirements of a science-based, operational
  11 definition of "SynBio"? These requirements should comprise specific inclusion and
  12 exclusion criteria, with special attention given to quantifiable and currently
  13 measurable ones.
- 3. Based on a survey of existing definitions, to which extent would the definitions
  available meet the requirements identified by the Committee as fundamental and
  operational?

#### 17 Methodological and safety aspects

- 4. What are the implications for human and non-human animal health and the
   environment of likely developments in SynBio resulting or not in a genetically
   modified organism as defined in the Directive 2001/18/EC?
- Are existing methodologies appropriate for assessing the potential risks associated
   with different kinds of activities, tools, products and applications arising from SynBio
   research?
- 6. If existing methodologies are not appropriate to assess the potential risks associated
  with activities related to and products arising from SynBio research, how should
  existing methodologies be adapted and/or completed?
- 7. How, when, and to what extent can safety (safety locks) be inherently built intoproducts of SynBio?
- 29 8. The SCENIHR, SCHER, SCCS are asked to draw the blue print of a general
   30 procedure/strategy for designing inherently safe applications of SynBio.

#### 31 **Research priorities**

- 32 9. The SCENIHR, SCHER, SCCS are asked to review the state of the scientific knowledge
  33 concerning specific risks to the environment and synthesise it following the procedure
  34 and the requirements mentioned in the COP Decision XI/11 of the Convention of
  35 Biodiversity and include the synthesis in its opinion.
- 36 10. What are the major gaps in knowledge which are necessary for performing a reliable37 risk assessment in the areas of concern?
- 38 11. SCENIHR, SCHER, and SCCS are requested to provide research recommendations on
   39 the main scientific gaps identified The recommendations should also include
   40 methodological guidance on the experimental design and on the requirements of the
   41 proposals, to ensure data quality and comparability, as well as the usability of the
   42 results for risk assessment.

#### 1 9.2. Annex II Abstract of Opinion I

2 This Opinion is the first of a set of three Opinions addressing a mandate on Synthetic Biology (SynBio) from DG SANCO, DG RTD, DG Enterprise and DG Environment 3 4 requested to the three Scientific Committees (SCs). This first Opinion concentrates on 5 the elements of an operational definition for SynBio. The two Opinions that follow will 6 focus on risk assessment methodology, safety aspects and research priorities, 7 respectively. This first opinion lays the foundation for the two other opinions with an overview of the main scientific developments, concepts, tools and research areas in 8 9 SynBio. Additionally, a summary of relevant regulatory aspects in the European Union, in 10 other countries such as the USA, Canada, South America, China, and at the United Nations is included. Although security issues concerning SynBio are important, the terms 11 12 of reference pertain exclusively to safety and, thus, security issues will not be addressed 13 in any of the three Opinions.

- 14 In brief, the answers to the first three questions asked in the mandate are:
- 15 1. What is Synthetic Biology and what is its relationship to the genetic modification oforganisms?
- Over the past decade, new technologies, methods and principles have emerged that
  allow for faster and easier design and manufacturing of GMOs, which are referred to as
  Synthetic Biology (SynBio). SynBio is currently encompassed within genetic modification
  as defined in the European Directives 2001/18/EC and 2009/41/EC and will likely remain
  so in the foreseeable future.
- 22 Current definitions of SynBio generally emphasise modularisation and engineering 23 concepts as the main drivers for faster and easier GMO design, manufacture and 24 exploitation. However, the operational definition offered here addresses the need for a 25 definition that enables risk assessment and is sufficiently broad to include new 26 developments in the field. Therefore, for the purpose of these Opinions, this is the 27 operational definition derived from a working understanding of SynBio as a collection of 28 conceptual and technological advances:

## SynBio is the application of science, technology and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms.

- Based on current knowledge about scientific, technical, and commercial
   developments, what are the essential requirements of a science-based, operational
   definition of "Synthetic Biology"? These requirements should comprise specific inclusion
   and exclusion criteria, with special attention given to quantifiable and currently
   measurable ones.
- The opinion proposes an 'operational' definition based on present knowledge and
  understanding of the field of SynBio. However, this definition may change as the
  understanding of the SynBio concepts, tools and applications evolves.

SynBio includes any activity that aims to modify the genetic material of living organisms
as defined in the Cartagena Protocol on Biodiversity. This does not exclude the
consideration of non-viable, non-reproducing goods and materials generated by or
through the use of such living genetically modified organisms (GMOs). Genetic

Modification (GM) involves the modification of living organisms with heritable material that is independent of the chemical nature of the heritable material and the way in which this heritable material has been manufactured. SynBio uses all available technologies for genetic modification, but in particular, aims at a faster and easier process, which also increases predictability.

6 It is difficult to accurately define the relationship between genetic modification and 7 SynBio on the basis of quantifiable and currently measurable inclusion and exclusion 8 criteria. Thus, in addition to the definition, a list of specific criteria was considered 9 reflecting that SynBio covers any organism, system, material, product, or application 10 resulting from introduction, assembly, or alteration of the genetic material in a living organism. Although these criteria are helpful guiding principles that specify whether or 11 not a certain process, tool or product belongs to SynBio, none are quantifiable or 12 13 measurable. Additional criteria including the complexity of the genetic modification, the 14 speed by with modification was achieved, the number of independent modifications, or 15 the degree of computational design methods used, alone nor in combination are also unable to unambiguously differentiate SynBio processes or products from GM. 16

3. Based on a survey of existing definitions, to which extent would the definitionsavailable meet the requirements identified by the Committee as fundamental andoperational?

A survey of 35 published definitions is provided in an annex to this Opinion. Existing definitions are focused on conceptual advances within the scientific community. However, these definitions are neither operational nor fundamental, because they are not based on quantifiable and currently measurable criteria. To address the deficiency in existing definitions and to enable our practical work on risk assessment, the sciencebased operational definition of SynBio above is suggested.

This definition has the advantage that it does not exclude the relevant and large body of risk assessment and safety guidelines developed over the past 40 years for GM work and extensions of that work, if needed, to account for recent technological advances in SynBio. Additionally, the present definition also allows for the rapidly advancing nature of GM technologies and important nuance that supports the need for on-going updates of risk assessment methods, which will be addressed in Opinion II.

#### 1 9.3. Annex III Abstract of Opinion II

In Opinion I on synthetic biology (SynBio), the three non-food Committees of the
European Union SCHER, SCENIHR, and SCCS answered the first 3 out of 11 questions
from the European Commission on scope, definition and identification of the relationship
between SynBio and genetic engineering, and the possibility of distinguishing the two.

In this second Opinion (Opinion II), the Scientific Committees (SCs) addressed the five
subsequent questions focused on the implications of likely developments in SynBio on
human and animal health and the environment and on determining whether existing
health and environmental risk assessment practices of the European Union for
Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) are also adequate for SynBio. Additionally, the
SCs were asked to provide suggestions for revised risk assessment methods and risk
mitigation procedures, including safety locks.

Because SynBio is a rapidly evolving technology, the SCs suggest that risk assessment of and methodology for SynBio must be revisited at regular intervals. Although it is outside the scope of the current mandate, some background considerations about the social, governance, ethical and security implications of SynBio are also provided.

17 SynBio shares several methodologies and tools with genetic engineering. In Opinion II, 18 the SCs evaluated risk assessment methodology of use activities and activities involving 19 the deliberate release of GMOs that are built on the principles outlined in Directives 20 2001/18/EC and 2009/41/EC and in the Guidance notes published in Commission 21 Decision 2000/608/EC. These principles address the magnitude of potential hazards and 22 adverse effects of genetic engineering on human health and the environment and on the 23 probability that they might lead to hazards (exposure chain). Herein, the SCs assess six 24 novel SynBio developments: 1) Genetic part libraries and methods; 2) Minimal cells and 25 designer chassis; 3) Protocells and artificial cells; 4) Xenobiology: 5) DNA synthesis and 26 genome editing; and 6) Citizen science (Do-It-Yourself biology (DIYbio)). Notably, 27 complexity and uncertainty are characteristic parts of the risk assessment of SynBio and 28 have lead the SCs to conclude that within the scope of current GMO regulations, risk 29 assessment is challenging, e.g., because of the lack of 'comparators' and the increasing 30 number of genetic modifications and engineered organisms.

31 This Opinion addresses questions 4-8 of 11 of the SynBio mandate:

Question 4: What are the implications for human and animal health and the environment
of likely developments in SynBio resulting or not in a genetically modified organism as
defined in the Directive 2001/18/EC?

New challenges in predicting risks are expected due to emergent properties of SynBio products and extensive genetically engineered systems, including, 1) the integration of protocells into/with living organisms, 2) future developments of autonomous protocells, 3) the use of non-standard biochemical systems in living cells, 4) the increased speed of modifications by the new technologies for DNA synthesis and genome editing and 5) the rapidly evolving DIYbio citizen science community, which may increase the probability of unintentional harm.

The framework for risk assessment of new SynBio developments may be addressed
using current methodology used for GMO risk assessment. However, there are specific
cases in which new approaches may be necessary. These include risks pertaining to 1)

1 routes of exposure and adverse effects arising from the integration of protocells into 2 living organisms and future developments of autonomous protocells, 2) new 3 xenobiological variants and their risk on human health and the environment that should be engineered for improved biocontainment, 3) DNA synthesis and direct genome editing 4 5 of zygotes which enables modifications in higher animals within a single generation, and 6 4) new multiplexed genetic modifications which increase the number of genetic 7 modifications introduced in parallel by large-scale DNA synthesis and/or highly-parallel 8 genome editing and will increase the genetic distance between the resulting organism 9 and any natural or previously modified organism.

Question 5: Are existing methodologies appropriate for assessing the potential risks
 associated with different kinds of activities, tools, products and applications arising from
 SynBio research?

The existing risk assessment methodologies, in particular for GMOs and chemicals, are applicable; however, several SynBio developments such as combining genetic parts and the emergence of new properties due to interactions (genetic parts libraries), combinations of chemical and biological assessments (protocells), interactions between xenobiological and natural organisms (xenobiology), and the acceleration of GM processes will require improving existing methodology.

Question 6: If existing methodologies are not appropriate to assess the potential risks
associated with activities related to and products arising from SynBio research, how
should existing methodologies be adapted and/or completed?

22 Though present risk assessment methodologies are appropriate for assessing potential 23 risks of SynBio activities and products, the SCs suggest several improvements to ensure 24 continued safety protection proportionate to risk, while enabling scientific and 25 technological advances in the field of SynBio. These improvements include, 1) support 26 the characterisation of the function of biological parts and the development of 27 computational tools to predict emergent properties of SynBio organisms, 2) streamline 28 and standardise the methods for submitting genetic modification data and genetic parts 29 information to risk assessors, 3) encourage the use of GMOs with a proven safety record 30 as acceptable comparators for risk assessment, 4) aim to ensure that risk assessment 31 methods advance in parallel with SynBio advances, and 5) support the sharing of 32 relevant information about specific parts, devices and systems with risk assessors.

33 Question 7: How, when, and to what extent can safety (safety locks) be inherently built34 into products of SynBio?

Currently available safety locks used in genetic engineering such as genetic safeguards (e.g., auxotrophy and kill switches) are not yet sufficiently reliable for SynBio. Notably, SynBio approaches that provide additional safety levels, such as genetic firewalls may improve containment compared with classical genetic engineering. However, no single technology solves all biosafety risks and many new approaches will be necessary.

40 *Question 8: The SCENIHR, SCHER, SCCS are asked to draw the blue print of a general* 41 *procedure/strategy for designing inherently safe applications of SynBio.* 

A blue print of a general strategy for designing inherently safe applications of SynBio is
demanding, because of the stochastic and probabilistic character of the underlying
biochemical SynBio processes. General biocontainment approaches are based on 1)

1 physical containment, 2) inhibition of uptake, 3) incorrect translation, 4) inability to 2 replicate, 5) absence of host immunity and 6) endogenous toxicity. For instance, genetic 3 safeguards such as auxotrophy and kill switches are not sufficiently reliable/robust for 4 field release of engineered bacteria, because of mutation and positive selection pressure 5 for mutants that may lead them to escape safeguards. The SCs recommend a clear 6 strategy for the analysis, development, testing and prototyping of applications based on 7 new forms of biocontainment and additional layers of containment using orthogonal 8 systems.

### 19.4. Annex IV Key technologies with potential impact on risks to the2environment

3 Short description with reference to Opinion I

4 Genetic parts: SynBio library construction and parts characterisation may increase the 5 frequency of use of uncharacterised components, and/or the diversity of biological 6 functions. The function of these systems may be "emergent," i.e. they arise from the 7 interactions of the parts with each other. Emergent functions may include conditional, 8 time-varying and non-linear (non-proportional) behaviours (Guet et al., 2002). The 9 current Directives 2001/18/EC and 2009/41/EC for risk assessment consider these 10 emergent properties by requiring an assessment of the proposed or realised GMM/GMO, 11 in addition to an assessment of the properties of component parts. Notably, the 12 emergent properties may present new challenges in predicting or testing for risks and in 13 the identification of appropriate comparator organisms.

Minimal cells and designer chassis: Minimising the number of components required
 to support biological synthesis from synthetic DNA circuits or genomes may also simplify
 control of the function(s).

17 **Protocells:** Currently, protocells are non-living vesicles and will likely be confined to the 18 laboratory for the near to medium-term. Although the objective is for such cells to 19 replicate, it is not yet possible. Therefore, dispersion is not possible because of the lack 20 of cell viability. Risks related to protocell research are no higher than the risks in biological and chemistry laboratories (Bedau et al., 2009), because the current state-of-21 22 the-art research does not create novel, viable artificial cells. In the future, exposure to 23 autonomous artificial cells that survive in the laboratory and in the environment might 24 be possible. Although protocells are not alive, they can be engineered to intimately 25 interact with living cells and enhance overall system functionality. Thus, novel biological 26 functions can be designed without altering the DNA of these target organisms. If 27 autonomous artificial cells are created in the future, the genetic information that controls 28 internal functioning might mutate or be horizontally transferred. Thus, a population of 29 protocells with different genetic information could undergo selection and new protocells 30 could arise (Bedau et al., 2009).

31 **Xenobiology**: The use of non-standard biochemical systems in living cells, e.g., XNA, 32 alternative base pairs, etc., has implications for risk assessment and biosafety. (New 33 variants must be tested for risk to human health or the environment and the 34 xenobiological systems may be engineered to allow for improved biocontainment, e.g., 35 the so-called 'genetic firewall' that aims to avoid) the exchange of genetic material 36 through horizontal gene transfer or sexual reproduction between the XB and natural 37 organisms. The assumption is that xeno-systems would not survive due to their custom-38 made auxotrophy.

39 **DNA synthesis and genome editing**: The new technologies for DNA synthesis and 40 genome editing accelerate genetic modification and increase the range and number of 41 modifications that are easily possible. The increased speed of modifications might pose 42 challenges to risk assessment.

43 **Citizen science**: While the hazard remains the same, e.g., infection with pathogenic 44 organisms the probability of unintentional harm might increase, because more people 45 are starting to actively work with biological material. However, as long as the citizen

- 1 science community is well informed and cautious, the overall additional risk increase
- 2 would be minimal.